An Examination of Secondary Special Education Teachers' Self-Reported Efficacy and Performance through the Use of Case Study Methodology

by

Stephanie L. Taylor

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate Faculty of
Auburn University
in partial fulfillment of the
requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy

Auburn, Alabama December 8, 2012

Teacher efficacy, case study, evidence-based practices, performance

Copyright 2012 by Stephanie L. Taylor

Approved by

Caroline Dunn, Chair, Professor of Special Education, Rehabilitation and Counseling Margaret Shippen, Associate Professor of Special Education, Rehabilitation and Counseling Marie Kraska, Mildred Cheshire Fraley Distinguished Professor of Educational Foundations, Leadership and Technology

Rebecca Curtis, Associate Professor of Special Education, Rehabilitation and Counseling

Abstract

Preparing students with disabilities for positive postschool outcomes is one of the most difficult responsibilities a secondary special education teacher can have. It is necessary that secondary level special education teachers have the training and confidence level needed to effectively transition students from high school to postschool settings. When special education teachers have higher levels of efficacy students with disabilities have more positive postschool outcomes (Buell, Hallam, Game-McCormick, & Scheer, 1999).

Unfortunately, many pre-service teachers are not being adequately prepared in the area of transition (Benitez, Morningstar, & Frey, 2009). Preparation programs are not providing the content that is needed to help students with disabilities exit high school (Anderson, et al., 2003). Many programs focus on special education terminology, laws, and the IEP (Council for Exceptional Children, 2001). However, pre-service educators are missing the knowledge and skills that will allow them to better serve students during their transition planning process. Case study methodology is one method that teacher preparation programs can use to evaluate their studentsøproblem-solving and application skills (Block, 1996).

This study examined pre-service special education teachersøefficacy, knowledge, and skills towards educating secondary-age students with disabilities. Thirty pre-service secondary special education teachers were surveyed. Data were collected using the *Teacher Efficacy for Secondary Student with Disabilities Survey* and *Evidence-Based Practice Case Study Questionnaire*. The methods used to analyze the data included quantitative and descriptive

statistics. The results revealed that pre-service teachers have high levels of efficacy. However, their overall scores from the rubric which evaluated pre-service secondary special education teachersøperformance on case study related to evidence-based practices and transition-related issues did not fall in at the offeeto or offeeto expectationor range.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest gratitude and appreciation to my major professor, Dr. Caroline Dunn, whose patience, knowledge, supports, and dedication guided me through this lengthy but worthwhile journey. She has encouraged me to not only grow as a researcher and continuous educator of students with disabilities but, also as an instructor and an independent thinker. Over the past three years, I have cherished every personal and professional conversation we have had. For everything you have done for me, Dr. Dunn, I thank you.

I would also like to thank the members of my dissertation committee. Dr. Marie Kraska, I am sincerely grateful for your time, patience, and professional expertise. Dr. Rebecca Curtis, thank you so much for being supportive of my ideas and visions. Additionally, I would like to give a heartfelt thank you to Dr. Margaret õPeggyö Shippen. Your support and words of encouragement has brought many smiles and laughter to what seemed to be an endless journey. To Drs. Flores, Myers, and Martin, whose generous gifts of knowledge and time supported my educational efforts every step of the way.

I would like to give a special thanks to Drs. Reilly, Rabren, and Darch. Over the past ten years, these individuals have been paramount in providing me with the knowledge and skills to educate students with disabilities. Thank you for helping me to seek excellence and become an effective and meaningful educator.

I hold a special appreciation, respect, and love for Dr. DaShonera Griffin. She has always been a constant support. She has provided me with mounds of strength, direction, and encouragement throughout my entire professional career. The journey that I endured and the achievements I have acquired, I dedicate to you. This journey could have not ended without you. For these supports and so much more, Dr. Griffin, I thank you.

These past three years would not have been possible without my closest and dearest friends Corina, Shunda, and LaTarsha. These ladies have been my personal cheerleaders from day one of this journey. I am truly appreciative for your positive comments, prayers, and words of encouragement. This past year has been very difficult, but each of you has showed me unconditional love and friendship. Thank you for acknowledging how important learning is to me. To my other friends, thanks for checking on me and keeping me stable.

Finally, I would like to thank my mother and sister. My mother has provided me with the tools to pursue my dreams. I could not have done this without you! You are the reason why I am the woman I am today. This dissertation and degree is dedicated to you! Thank you Mother! To my sister, I want you to know that I think you are the strongest woman I know. I admire your strength and ability to not give up. It has been a long and hard four years but we are still here, going strong! No matter how hard our situations have been, we have still found a way to laugh. I love that about us. Sister, thank you! To my other family members, thank you for your support, love, patience, and understanding. I appreciate you all!

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgments	iv
List of Tables	X
Chapter I. Introduction	1
Purpose of the Study	4
Research Questions	4
Significance of the Study	5
Definition of Terms	5
Chapter II. Review of Literature	8
Introduction	8
Overview of Transition	9
Transition Definitions and Models	9
Evidence-Based Practices for Secondary Special Educators	15
Self-Determination	17
Family Involvement	20
Interagency Collaboration	24
Student Participation	27
Transition Assessments	28

Spec	cial Education Teachersø Efficacy	32
	Banduraøs Theory	32
	The Evolution and Measurement of Teacher Efficacy	34
	Efficacy of Teachers Instructing Students with Disabilities	37
	Pre-service EducatorsøEfficacy	41
Seco	ondary Special Educators Roles and Responsibilities	44
	The Transition Gap	47
	Key Content for Secondary Special Educators	48
Case	e Study Methodology in Special Education	52
	Background of Case Method Teaching	53
	Case Method Instruction Defined Through Teacher Preparation	54
	Case Method as Performance Assessments	57
	Rationale for Case Method in Special Education	57
Sum	nmary	60
Chapter III.	Methodology	63
Met	hods	63
	Participants and Settings	63
	Instrumentation	64
	Demographic Questionnaire	64
	Teacher Efficacy for Secondary Student with Disabilities (TESSD)	64
	Evidence-Based Practices Case Study and Evidence-Based Practices Response Questionnaire	67
	Development and Field Testing of Evidence-Based Practices Case Study and Evidence-Based Practices Response Questionnaire	68

Evidence-Based Practices Written Analyses Rubric	71
Evidence-Based Practices Written Analyses Rubric Training and Inter-rater Reliability	71
Procedures	72
Institutional Review Board	72
Recruitment of Participants	72
Administering of Instruments	73
Research Questions	74
Data Analysis	75
Chapter IV. Results	76
Research Question Results	78
Research Question 1	78
Research Question 2	80
Research Question 3	81
Research Question 4	82
Research Question 5	84
Research Question 6	84
Research Question 7	85
Chapter V. Discussion of Results, Limitations, Future Research and Summary	86
Discussion of Results	87
Secondary Special Education Pre-Service TeachersøEfficacy	87
Secondary Special Education Pre-Service Teachers@Performance Abilities	87
Relationship between Efficacy and Performance	88

	Differences between Undergraduate and Graduate Level Pre-Service Teachers	89
	Differences between Practicum and Internship Level Pre-Service Teachers	90
Limita	itions	92
Future	Research	94
Summ	ary	95
References		97
Appendix 1	Evidence-Based Practices Case Study and Teacher Efficacy Instruments	l 17
Appendix 2	Auburn University Institutional Review Board (IRB) Approval	131
Appendix 3	Participant Recruitment Flyer and Email Recruitment Letter	142

List of Tables

Table 1	Kohlerøs Taxonomy for Transition Programming	16
Table 2	ChoiceMaker Self-Determination Transition Curriculum Strands and Teaching Goals	19
Table 3	Bloom Taxonomy	59
Table 4	TEIYD and TESSD Survey Items	66
Table 5	Participant Demographic Information	77
Table 6	TESSD Survey Questions Frequency	79
Table 7	Mean Scores and Standard Deviations of Teacher Efficacy	81
Table 8	Mean Scores and Standard Deviations of Teacher Efficacy Scores	82
Table 9	Evidence-Based Practice Rubric Component Percentages	83
Table 10	Mean Scores and Standard Deviations of Undergraduate and Graduateøs Rubric Scores	84
Table 11	Mean Scores and Standard Deviations of Practicum and Internship StudentsøRubric Scores	85

CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION

The Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975 (EAHC) has required all students, regardless of disability, to receive a free and appropriate public education (FAPE). Since EAHC was created, there has been more than a 50% increase in students with disabilities who receive special education services (National Center for Education Statistics, 2011). Over the years, there has been an increased concern about what happens to students with disabilities once they leave high school. National studies reveal their postschool outcomes in employment, postsecondary education and training, and independent living is less than desirable (Newman, 2005). While there are many factors that contribute to these poor outcomes, one factor that can contribute to this is the lack of focus in teacher preparation programs in the area of transition (Anderson, Kleinhammer-Tramill, Morningstar, et al., 2003; Kochhar-Bryant, 2003). Currently, the No Child Left Behind Act (2001) and the reauthorization of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (2004) have improved the quality of education for students with disabilities regarding academic achievement. The services that are being provided are more academically-focused and teachers are being held more accountable to implement evidencebased practices (Anderson, Kleinhammer-Tramill, Morningstar, et al., 2003).

In addition to the evidence-based practices that support academic achievement, there are practices that support postschool options. Evidence-based practices are researched-based practices that have been found to be effective for creating positive postschool outcomes for students with disabilities (Landmark, et al., 2010). Currently, the National Secondary Transition

Technical Assistance Center (NSTTAC; 2010) has identified more than 33 evidence-based practices for preparing secondary students with disabilities. The practices are supported by research and validated by transition experts as practices that increase positive student outcomes during the transition planning process. To increase the likelihood of a positive postschool outcome, secondary educators must implement evidence-based practices and programs that relate to the studentsøpostschool goals (Flexer, et al., 2007). There should be a support system for students and their families in transition planning that communicates individualized transition services that are scientifically-based (Cook, Tankersley, & Landrum, 2009). Although there are over 33 evidence-based practices some of those, such as funding, are not under the direct control of the special educator at the secondary level. However, several of these practices can be addressed by secondary special education teachers. Some of the most important practices that teachers can influence are self-determination, family involvement, interagency collaboration, student participation, and transition assessments (Kohler & Field, 2003).

Due to the unique academic and behavior needs of students with disabilities and the need for better postschool outcomes for these students, recognizing and effectively using evidence-based practices are of the utmost importance for special education teachers (Kretlow & Blatz, 2011; Landmark, Ju, & Zhang, 2010). Evidenced-based practices are used by teachers to assist in the development and implementation of individualized educational planning for youth with disabilities. This type of planning supports the transition from high school to postschool activities, such as college, employment, and independent living. The evidence-based practices that will be highlighted in this paper are (a) self-determination, (b) student participation, (c) family involvement, (d) interagency collaboration, and (e) transition assessments. These five practices have been found to be critical components of effective transition programs.

Unfortunately, many special education teachers lack the knowledge and skills to implement these practices effectively, and they report feeling unprepared to work with students with disabilities at the secondary level (Anderson et al., 2003). Special educators must have the confidence and knowledge to promote effective student learning. This impacts their sense of self-efficacy. Special educatorsøself-efficacy plays a key role in classroom learning and predicting positive postschool outcomes for students with disabilities. Teacher efficacy is demonstrated by having a positive attitude paired with effective instructional activities that will increase student achievement (Gibson & Dembo, 1984). Teacher efficacy is important to consider in the preparation of special education teachers. Students of teachers with higher self-efficacy demonstrate higher academic achievement, increased family involvement, and higher levels of commitment to the field (Gibson & Dembo, 1984; Hoy & Woolfolk, 1993; Soodak & Podell, 1993).

Preparation programs should include the content necessary to ensure that special educators understand the complete nature of the transition process and have the skills to develop and implement effective secondary education programs. The roles and responsibilities of secondary special educators have expanded, requiring them to take on more job duties. Many secondary special educators, however, lack the key content to perform their expanded job requirements (deFur & Tayman, 1995). Special education teacher preparation programs for the most part do not provide pre-service special educators with information and practical experiences to ensure competency in the area of transition. Most programs only offer one class, and novice teachers are left with many questions on how to help students transition from one setting to the next. Many special education programs focus solely on the IEP process and special education law that are related to the transition process. Colleges and universities have embedded these

preferred areas of knowledge and skills into their secondary level teacher preparation programs. The transition skills that pre-service teachers need are usually not developed until they obtain careers in a school system (Trussell et al., 2008). Current research findings are consistent with previous research in that there are gaps in the transition knowledge that teachers have and how often transition services are provided (Knott & Asselin, 1999).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to examine pre-service teachersøefficacy, knowledge, and skills related to educating secondary-aged students with disabilities. The efficacy beliefs concerning secondary-age students with disabilities are important because they promote positive teacher practices and positive postschool outcomes (Gibson & Dembo, 1984; Hoy & Woolfolk, 1993; Soodak & Podell, 1993). Pre-service special education teachersøteacher efficacy was measured using the *Teacher Efficacy for Secondary Student with Disabilities* (TESSD) survey. Their knowledge of and skills related to the provision of evidence-based practices in transition was measured through the use of a case study that focused on transition.

Research Questions

The study investigated the following questions:

- 1. What proportion of students rated themselves as õconfidentö or õvery confidentö on the *Teacher Efficacy for Secondary Student with Disabilities* (TESSD) survey?
- 2. To what extent was there a difference between scores on the teacher efficacy scale (TESSD) for students at the undergraduate level and those at the graduate level?
- 3. To what extent was there a difference between scores on the teacher efficacy scale (TESSD) for students at the practicum level and those at the internship level?

- 4. What proportion of studentsøresponses õmetö or õexceededö expectations on the rubric for the written response to *the Evidence-Based Practice Case Study*?
- 5. To what extent was there a difference between scores on the rubrics for evidencebase practices for students at the undergraduate level and those at the graduate level?
- 6. To what extent was there a difference between scores on the rubrics for evidence-based practices for students at the practicum level and those at the internship level?
- 7. To what extent was there a relationship between teacher efficacy scores (TESSD) and scores on the rubrics for evidence-based practices for students in special education teacher preparation programs?

Significance of the Study

This study provided information about pre-service special education teachersøefficacy, knowledge, and skills related to educating secondary-aged students with disabilities. As the roles and responsibilities of secondary teachers have changed due to emerging education priorities and legislative requirements, it is important to assess pre-service teachersøbeliefs about their abilities to serve secondary students with disabilities and their knowledge related to evidence-based practices. The results of this study help guide the refinement of secondary special education teacher certification programs.

Definition of Terms

Case Study: An analysis of a particular situation used as a basis for problem-solving in similar situations (Block, 1996).

Evidence-Based Practices: Practices that are supported by research and supported by experts to increase positive student outcomes (Landmark, Ju, & Zhang, 2010).

Family Involvement: Family members participate in direct interactions with educators, administrators, and adult service providers regarding the education and postschool outcomes of their family member with a disability (Test, Aspel, & Everson, 2005).

Individualized Education Program: A written plan that states a student with a disability strengths, weaknesses, and educational goals that outline the services and supports that will be provided to increase academic/behavioral achievement (IDEA, 1990).

Interagency Collaboration: A shared responsibility among educators, parents, and adult service providers actively working together to provide the best possible transition services for youth and young adults with disabilities (Test, Aspel, & Everson, 2005).

Postschool Outcomes: Outcomes that an individual experiences once exited from high school (Test, Aspel, & Everson, 2005).

Secondary Special Education Teacher: An educator that provides secondary school subjects and research-based instructional strategies that support the academic, behavioral, and postschool needs of all students with disabilities (Morningstar & Kleinhammer-Tramill, 2005).

Self-Determination: The attitude, abilities and skills that drivesøstudents to define goals for themselves and to take the initiative to reach these goals (Wehmeyer & Field, 2006).

Student Participation: An active participation of students in the decision-making process at the school level to help determine school and postschool options (Flexer, Baer, Luft, & Simmons, 2007).

Teacher Efficacy: Having a positive attitude paired with effective instructional activities that will increase student achievement (Bandura, 1977).

Transition Assessment: A process of obtaining and using information to assist young adults with disabilities, families, and educators make informed decisions about possible postschool outcomes (Clark, 1996).

Transition Planning Process: Activities, processes, and partnerships that prepare students with disabilities for postschool settings (Flexer, et al., 2007).

CHAPTER II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Introduction

Special education services have been required since the Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975. Over the years, there has been an increased concern about what happens to students with disabilities once they leave high school. National studies reveal their postschool outcomes in employment, postsecondary education and training, and independent living are less than desirable in comparison to their peers without disabilities (Newman, 2005). While there are many factors that contribute to these poor outcomes, one factor that may contribute to this is the lack of focus in teacher preparation programs in the area of transition (Anderson, Kleinhammer-Tramill, Morningstar, et al., 2003; Kochhar-Bryant, 2003). For example, Thoma, Held, and Saddler (2002) found that secondary special education teachers lack specific knowledge of transition skills and community resources to help students with disabilities enter adult life.

This lack of preparation may contribute to low levels of teacher efficacy. Teacher efficacy has been linked to student achievement and positive postschool outcomes (Gibson & Dembo, 1984; Hoy & Woolfolk, 1993). One method for increasing teacher efficacy in preservice teachers is the case study method of instruction. The case study method of instruction allows pre-service teachers to gain insight into the transition planning process (Lengyel & Vernon-Dotson, 2010). The purpose of this paper is to examine the issues of teacher efficacy in transition and the use of case study methodology. To achieve this, an overview of transition and

evidence-based practices will be provided first. This will be followed by a review of secondary special education teachersøteacher efficacy, and finally case study methodology.

Overview of Transition

Transition Definitions and Models

PL 94-142, the Education for All Handicapped Children Act (EAHCA), passed in 1975, was the first federal legislation that required a free and appropriate education (FAPE) for all children with disabilities. Prior to this time, schools could deny educational services to students with disabilities. After the passage of the law, the main focus was on developing programs and services to educate students with disabilities. Beginning in the 1980s, however, after the first full generation of students served under EAHCA was exiting school, questions were raised by educators and parents about what happened to the students once they left school. Concerns about their outcomes in employment, residential, and independent living led to the beginning of the transition movement. The remainder of this section will provide an overview of transition by discussing the evolution of the definitions of transition and key legislation.

The beginning of the transition initiative in special education was in 1984 with Madeline Willøs *Bridges from School to Working Life*. In this paper, Will (1984) provided the following definition:

The transition from school to working life is an outcome-oriented process encompassing a broad array of services and experiences that lead to employment. Transition is a period that includes high school, the point of graduation, additional postsecondary education or adult services, and the initial years of employment. Transition is a bridge between the security and structure offered by the school and the opportunities and risks of adult life. Any bridge requires both a solid span and secure foundation at either end. The transition

from school to work and adult life requires sound preparation in the secondary school, adequate support at the point of school leaving, and secure opportunities and services, if needed, in adult situations. (p. 30)

This cornerstone definition aided in creating and providing appropriate transition services for youth with disabilities to support postschool options. The definition included specific recommendations for connecting secondary and postsecondary environmentsøschool curricula that support work environments, better postsecondary services, and incentive programs for hiring youth with disabilities. The suggestions were based on needs that guided the creation of the Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Servicesø(OSERS) transition policy during the 1980s. The needs included (a) a focus on all students with disabilities, (b) a focus to address postschool services, and (c) a focus to prepare students for work and independent living.

Willøs definition centered attention on the collaborative efforts of the school and community agencies for improving outcomes for youth with disabilities exiting from secondary education settings to employment, adult life, and postsecondary institutions (Kohler, 1998). The definition also led to the OSERSøBridges Model that included three bridges from high school to employment (Will, 1983). The first bridge was called ono special services. It was used by individuals with and without disabilities. Individuals who use this route obtain support by using their own resources or what is typically available to those without disabilities. The second bridge, otime-limited services, or referred to the opportunities individuals must qualify for to use special services for a specified amount of time. These special services can include vocational rehabilitation or vocational training programs. The third bridge, ongoing services, or provided support for individuals who needed long-term care such as osupported employmento in order to obtain vocational experiences. The Bridges Model was one of the first major influential models

that came out of the Department of Education. The model focused solely on employment as a transitional goal, while leaving out community and social involvement.

There was concern that the focus of the Bridgeøs Model was too limited. Consequently, Halpern (1985) created another model that was more comprehensive. His model focused on total community adjustment, which he suggested was supported by not only employment, but also residential environment and social interpersonal networks. This model also had three paths, which he titled *no special services*, *time-limited services*, and *ongoing services*. The addition of residential environment and social interpersonal networks reflected the need for transition preparation in other areas besides employment.

The early definitions and models of transition helped shape the meaning of transition in the United States and influenced the development of transition programs. During this time, transition services were not required. It was not until 1990 that transition services were mandated under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA). At this point, the special education law initiated the requirement of transition planning services. Additionally, a definition for appropriate transition services was provided. In Section 602 (a) of IDEA transition services were defined as:

A coordinated set of activities for a student, designed within an outcome-oriented process, which promotes movement from school to post-school activities, including post-secondary education, vocational training, integrated employment (including supported employment), and community participation. The coordinated set of activities shall be based upon the individual student needs, taking into account the student preferences and interests, shall include instruction, community experiences, the development of

employment and other post-school adult living objectives, and if appropriate, acquisition of daily living skills and functional vocational evaluation. (P. L. 101-476, Section 602(a)) This definition provided a focus on activities that would allow students with disabilities to participate in a meaningful transition from high school to postsecondary settings. It also provided a comprehensive look at postsecondary opportunities such as employment, postsecondary education, vocational training, and independent living. Most importantly, educators, parents, and service providers had a rationale to create and implement effective transition services.

Early definitions and transition planning primarily emphasized employment. Researchers and professionals began to question this limited focus, arguing that the outcome of the transition process should also reflect independent living and recreational activities (Bates, Suter, & Poelvoorde, 1986; Polloway, Patton, Smith, & Roderique, 1991; Wehman, Kregel, Barcus, & Schalock, 1986). In 1994, the Division on Career Development and Transition (DCDT) of the Council for Exceptional Children presented a broader definition reflective of professionalsø opinions that emphasized community participation, independent living, and recreation in addition to employment. According to this definition:

Transition refers to change in status from behaving primarily as a student to assuming emergent adult roles in the community. These roles include employment, participating in post-secondary education, maintaining a home, becoming appropriately involved in the community, and experiencing satisfactory personal and social relationships. The process on enhancing transition involves the participation and coordination of school programs, adult agency services, and natural supports within the community. The foundations for transition should be laid during the elementary and middle school years, guided by the

broad concept of career development. Transition planning should begin no later than age 14, and students should be encouraged, to the full extent of their capabilities, to assume a maximum amount of responsibility for such planning. (Halpern, 1994, p. 117)

DCDT & definition reflected the expansion of the practice of transition. It joined the terminology of career development from elementary school through high school, and emphasized the planning of other life domains, and promoted the roles of everyone in the planning process (Halpern, 1994).

With emphasis on career development and effective planning in all domains of life, Kohler developed a transition model that emphasized a broader view on what transition education was and how it should be structured (1998). Her model is actually a taxonomy developed through a multi-stage process involving literature and research reviews and input from experts from the field. Several investigations of reviewed literature, evaluation studies, and model transition projects helped develop the framework. Through a three-phased research process, evidence-based practices were identified and organized into five categories. The five categories included (a) student-focused planning, (b) family involvement, (c) program structure and attributes, (d) interagency collaboration, and (e) student development. Student-focused planning is defined as the most important factor that will aide in determining goals, objectives, and services. Family involvement emphasizes the participation of family members while training them to increase student empowerment. Program structures and attributes looks at the service system and the need for community educational options and the allocation of resources. Interagency collaboration promotes a collaborative effort among schools and local businesses that will sustain employment needs of the students. Student development includes activities that teach students life skills and career development strategies in order to become successful

members in society. The combination of these categories assist students with disabilities, family members, educators, and other stakeholders in creating outcome-oriented planning based on individualized goals and needs (Flexer, Simmons, Luft, & Baer, 2001).

In 2004, with the reauthorization of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), the definition of transition was changed again to be reflective and consistent with other educational reform efforts. The current definition of transition in federal law is

The term otransition serviceso means a coordinated set of activities for a child with a disability that is designed to be within a results-oriented process, that is focused on improving the academic and functional achievement of the child with a disability to facilitate the child movement from school to post-school activities, including postsecondary education; vocational education; integrated employment (including supported employment); continuing and adult education; adult services; independent living or community participation. [(60234)]

This definition focuses on the childøs strengths, needs, preferences, and interests that will produce successful outcomes once the student graduates from high school.

In sum, before 1990, transition had not been fully defined and required by law. Although some professionals, organizations, and educators worked together to develop efficient definitions and models for improving post-school outcomes for adolescents with disabilities, this was only the beginning to the movement of effective transition services. Over the past forty years, the relationship between transition-related legislation and transition models have been explored to better serve individuals with disabilities (Flexer, Baer, Luft, & Simmons, 2007). The two major influences on transition currently are IDEIA and Kohlerøs Taxonomy. Both of these provide guidance and direction for the development of transition programs and implementation of

services. As well, the focus on skills and content in the definition and taxonomy has major implications for the training of secondary special education teachers.

Transition definitions, models, and legislation have created the foundation needed to ensure that all students with disabilities receive complete access to and benefit from their secondary transition programs. Despite the influences of the transition models, legislation, and transition definitions, students with disabilities still face many challenges to achieve positive postschool outcomes in comparison to their peers without disabilities. To improve postschool outcomes, secondary special educators, parents, and other stakeholders must implement evidence-based practices that assist students in achieving desired postschool settings. These evidence-based practices provide the foundation for effective secondary progress.

Evidence-Based Practices for Secondary Special Educators

Over the years, researchers have been trying to identify practices related to positive postschool outcomes. The Office of Special Education Programs (OSEP) funded the National Secondary Transition Technical Assistance Center (NSTTAC). The goals of NSTTAC are to:

(a) assist states with collecting, reporting, and using Indicator 13 data to improve transition services for youth with disabilities; (b) produce knowledge of evidence-based secondary transition practices; (c) build state capacity to put into practice evidence-based secondary transition practices; and (d) disseminate information regarding evidence-based secondary transition practices. NSTTAC researchers have identified over 33 evidence-based practices in secondary transition. These 33 or more practices can be categorized into the taxonomy delineated in Kohler *Taxonomy for Transition Programming* discussed earlier, while representing a comprehensive categorization of practices through which transition-focused activities are created and implemented (Kohler, 1993, 1996; Kohler, DeStefano, Wermuth,

Grayson, & McGinty, 1994). The practices are supported by research and validated by transition experts as practices that increase positive student outcomes during the transition planning process. Table 1 provides a summary of some examples of evidence-based practices categorized by the *Kohler's Taxonomy for Transition Programming*.

Table 1

Kohler's Taxonomy for Transition Programming

Kohlerøs Taxonomy Category	NSTTAC Evidence-Based Practices
Student-Focused Planning	Involving students in the IEP process
	Using the Self-Advocacy Strategy
Student Development	Teaching functional life skills
	Teaching job specific employment skills
	Teaching social skills
	Teaching cooking and food prep skills
Family Involvement	Training parents about transition issues
Program Structure	Extending services beyond secondary school
Interagency Collaboration	Training for postschool employment

To increase the likelihood of positive postschool outcomes, secondary educators must implement evidence-based practices and programs that relate to the studentos postschool goals (Flexer, et al., 2007). There should be a support system for students and their families in transition planning that communicates individualized transition services that are scientifically based (Cook, Tankersley, & Landrum, 2009). Although there are over 33 evidence-based

practices, some of those are not under the direct control of the secondary special educator (e.g., funding) and some are very specific to a particular type of student and skill (e.g. food preparation). However, several of these practices should be considered by the secondary special education teacher for all secondary students with disabilities. Some of the most important practices that teachers can influence are self-determination, family involvement, student participation, transition assessments, and interagency collaboration (Kohler & Field, 2003). Each of these will be discussed briefly.

Self-Determination

Self-determination is important for all students. Moreover, promoting self-determination is a critical instructional objective for students with disabilities (Wehmeyer & Field, 2006). Secondary special education teachers are using self-determination instruction as a way to better motivate students and meet the growing need to teach children and youth ways to more fully accept responsibility for their lives. It also helps them to identify their needs and develop strategies to meet those needs. There are several definitions of self-determination that have been developed. One definition that was a collaborative effort among a group of recipients of federal grants focused on transition defined self-determination as:

a combination of skills, knowledge, and beliefs that enable a person to engage in goal-directed, self-regulated, autonomous behavior. An understanding of one strength and limitations together with a belief of oneself as capable and effective are essential to self-determination. When acting on the basis of these skills and attitudes individuals have a greater ability to take control of their lives and assume the role of successful adult in society. (Field, Martin, Miller, Ward, & Wehmeyer, 1998, p. 2)

The importance of self-determination has been highlighted in legislation as well as the results of research studies. Several pieces of legislation actually support the development of such skills (Flexer, et al., 2007). IDEA requires secondary transition-aged students to be invited to attend their Individualized Education Program (IEP) meetings that focus on transition planning. The IEP transition goals and activities must be based on the students strengths, needs, interests, and preferences. In addition to IDEA, the Rehabilitation Act Amendments of 1992 (P.L.102-569) addressed the need for self-determination for secondary-age students. The Act determined that the presence of a disability does not lessen the rights of individuals to benefit from self-determination. All programs and activities that receive monies from the federal and state offices of vocational rehabilitation must support the principles of self-determination.

Research also supports the importance of the development of self-determination skills. Many parents, researchers and policy makers have voiced concern about the high rates of unemployment, under-employment and poverty experienced by students with disabilities once they complete high school (Wehmeyer & Field, 2006). Research has shown that students who display self-determined behaviors are more likely to graduate from high school, gain meaningful employment, and earn more money than their peers who were not self-determined (Wehmeyer & Field, 2006; Wehmeyer & Palmer 2003; Wehmeyer & Schwartz, 1997).

Providing support for student self-determination in school settings is one way to enhance student learning and improve important postschool outcomes for students with disabilities (Field, et al., 1998; Flexer, et al., 2007; Test, Fowler, Brewer, & Wood, 2005; Wehmeyer & Field, 2006). Schools have particularly emphasized the use of self-determination curricula with students with disabilities to meet federal mandates to actively involve students with disabilities in the IEP planning process. Examples of various curricula that can support teachers in the

development of self-determination are *Steps to Self-Determination* (Fields & Hoffman, 1996), *NEXT S.T.E.P* (Halpern, Herr, Doren, & Wolf, 2000), and the *ChoiceMaker Series* (Martin & Marshall, 1996). Of the different curricula, *ChoiceMaker* is the most popular among special education teachers (Flexer, et al., 2007). The *ChoiceMaker* lesson package teaches specific goals and objectives through three strands, nine teaching goals, and fifty-four objectives (Martin & Marshall, 1996). Table 2 is a description of the *ChoiceMaker's* different sections and teaching goals.

Table 2

ChoiceMaker Self-Determination Transition Curriculum Strands and Teaching Goals

Strands	Teaching Goals
I. Choosing Goals	
	Student IEP Understanding
	Student Interest
	Student Skills & Limits
	Student Goals
II. Expressing Goals	
	Student Leading IEP Meeting
	Student Reporting
III. Taking Action	
	Student Plan
	Student Action
	Student Evaluation
	Student Adjustment

In addition to implementing self-determination curricula, teachers must also consider how they can adapt and structure their teaching and class environment. When special education teachers provide students with disabilities with choice making opportunities, students are able to express their individuality (Test, et al., 2005). In order to create these opportunities, educators can develop their own instructional activities or adapt previously developed lesson packages to teach self-determination skills to students (Flexer et al., 2001). Teachers also must implement and target self-determination skills by providing opportunities to learn these skills. Self-determination skills that are practiced and acquired through real-world experiences are critical to postschool success and include such skills as risk taking, making mistakes, and reflecting on decisions (Bremer, Kachgal, & Schoeller, 2003). Moreover, Szymanski (1994) suggested that classroom practices that increase student control develop and facilitate the generalization of these skills to natural environments.

Secondary special education teachers have many curricular resources to enhance self-determination skills in students with disabilities. Additionally, family members can be major contributors to the development of self-determination skills (Field et al., 1998; Field & Hoffman, 2002; Field, Hoffman, & Fullerton, 2002). Therefore, educators should strive to increase the role of parents in the self-determination (Field et al., 1998). Facilitating the development of self-determination skills components is one of the many ways families can become active members in the transition process.

Family Involvement

The key to a successful transition for students with disabilities is the active participation of family members (Benz, Doren, Yovanoff, 1998; Greene & Albright, 1995; McNair & Rusch, 1991; Turnbull & Turnbull, 1997). The collaboration among schools, adult service agencies, and

family members creates a meaningful transition planning process. Family members have known the student longer, and can provide valuable information that will support postschool educational planning (deFur, Todd-Allen, & Getzell, 2001). The information they provide will help in determining student needs, interests, and preferences.

Family involvement refers to activities and strategies that are designed to promote parents and families to become engaged in the planning and delivering of transition services for their child with a disability (Test, et al., 2005). Activities and strategies should be developed to help with the collaboration of parents, educators, and other stakeholders who are involved in the youthout transition from school to postschool settings. According to IDEA, family involvement is a right and it provides many benefits to the student.

Parent involvement has been an important part of disability legislation since the Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975. However, amendments to this law have increased the focus of parent and family involvement. While parents have always had the right to participate in their childøs IEP meetings, the 1997 amendments of IDEA expanded those rights. By participating in the transitioning planning process, families can assist educators in providing efficient and suitable transition services from high school to postsecondary environments.

Research has shown that students whose families are involved in the decision making process were more successful in graduating from high school, finding competitive employment, and attending post-secondary institutions (Newman, 2005). Other benefits of parental involvement include better school attendance, higher education assessment scores, and improved student attitude and self-confidence (Wehmeyer, Morningstar, & Husted, 1999). Additionally, youth with disabilities reported that parents and families were their most important supporters to

their future plans (Ward, Mallet, Heslop, & Simons, 2003). Parental involvement also encourages the development of self-determination skills during the transition planning process (Morningstar, Turnbull, & Turnbull, 1996). Without family involvement, transition-focused activities might not support the needs of the students. In addition, the lack of support will decrease the chance of successful transition from high school to post-secondary settings.

The lack of support and parental involvement can be due to many reasons. However, one of the main reasons is the lack of knowledge and empowerment (Landmark, Zhang, & Montoya, 2007). Many parents have a lack of understanding about the special education and transition process, terminology, and procedures (Lytle & Bordin, 2001). This disadvantage places parents in a position that causes hesitation and vulnerability towards the processes and documents related to transition planning (Rock, 2000). Some parents also feel as though secondary special educators intentionally deter family involvement (Trussell, Hammond, & Ingalls, 2008). Educators have a tendency to control the IEP meetings and parental input is disregarded or not fostered (Dabkowski, 2004; Turnbull & Turnbull, 1997).

To encourage family involvement in the transition process, families must be informed about basic information related to the process. Parents will be better able to support their young adults in the transition planning process if they are well informed about the special education system and transition planning process, special education paperwork, parental rights, and advocacy support groups (Flexer, et al., 2007). When information is provided and discussed on these processes and resources parents can make better decisions for their childøs postschool option (Cameto, 2005). In order for transition planning to be truly effective, relationships with all stakeholders should be created.

Parents also found that their improved participation in the transition planning process is based on the creation of personal relationships with educators and other stakeholders (deFur et al., 2001). Teachers who provide information and develop collaborative partnerships with parents demonstrate genuine concern for their child with a disability (Kohler & Field, 2003). These efforts encourage parents to speak more freely during planning meetings and provide input on specific family and child needs (Goodall, & Bruder, 1986). Also, parents will be more comfortable in asking questions when terminology or processes are not clear.

Although there are barriers to parental involvement in the transition planning process, there are activities and frameworks to increase family participation. Epstein (1995) provided a framework that supports the relationship between educators and family members during the planning process. While this framework was intended to promote the relationship between educators and family members in general settings, the activities can be particularly relevant during the transition planning process. The activities include (a) parenting activities that assist parents with information on adult services, support and services, employment and postsecondary education, independent living, and self-determination skills; (b) communication activities that provide opportunities for parental and other stakeholdersøinput; (c) volunteering activities that facilitate school-oriented goals and student learning; (d) home activities that incorporate student and parent engagement fostering partnerships beyond the classroom; (e) decision-making activities that create many strategies to involve parents in the creation of special education programs and services; and (f) collaboration with community activities to create relationships with the schools and communities to empower students and integrate resources.

Secondary special educators also should make every effort to familiarize themselves with the needs of the family and the demands and stresses a family may experience (Trussell et

al., 2008). Understanding the needs of the family will help foster the development of a stronger collaboration among educators and family members. Both parental and professional roles must be considered and defined so each voice will be heard and equally valued (Trussell et al., 2008). Additionally, there should be a continuous effort to increase parentsøknowledge on special education issues and the transition process. Involving parents enhances the planning process and creates a partnership of families, schools, and, community.

Interagency Collaboration

Active participation from all stakeholders involved in the transition process is essential in the development of postsecondary outcomes (e.g., early planning, funding, staffing, etc.) (Flexer et al., 2001). This type of participation is referred to as interagency collaboration. Interagency collaboration is defined as the collaboration of key individuals, businesses, and agencies that are joined together in an effort to promote successful student outcomes during the transition process (Test, et al., 2006). An interagency coordinating body should include students, parents, service providers, and employers (Kohler & Field, 2003). To facilitate effective collaboration, interagency agreements between the school and community agencies must be established to clearly define roles and responsibilities that each stakeholder will assume in the planning process (Kohler & Field, 2003). The shared responsibility of a common goal decreases the focus on individual differences among group members. This allows for collaboration to become an outcome process for the individuals who participate in the transition process.

The passage of key legislation mandated interagency collaboration and transition planning. The Rehabilitation Act of 1973 directed its attention to ensuring that transition planning must happen (defur & Tayman, 1995). The Act recognized the importance of living in the community and getting support for daily living activities that provide young adults with

disabilities with skills needed to transition from high school to work. The 1986 Amendments to the Rehabilitation Act encouraged vocational rehabilitation interagency cooperation and supported employment for both part-time and full-time employment. The 1992 and 1998 amendments paralleled the mandate of IDEA to emphasize an outcome-focused plan and collaboration. The Carl D. Perkins Vocational Education Act (P.L. 98-524) furthered the preparation of youth with disabilities to transition from high school to employment by supporting students who were economically disadvantaged to obtain vocational education. Reauthorized in 2006, it helped access appropriate vocational assessments and the offering of vocational programs for young adults in their least restrictive environments. The Perkins Act (2006) also held school more accountable for graduation, post-secondary education, and employment outcomes of the youth enrolled in the vocational programs. Finally, IDEIA (2004) required transition planning for students no later than age 16 to identify the professional that will assist in the process, highlighting interagency collaboration. It is recommended that the youth, their families, special education teachers, and rehabilitation professionals are members of the transition planning team (Oertle & Trach, 2007).

Research has shown many benefits to the practice of interagency collaboration.

Devlieger and Trach (1999) found that when interagency collaboration is done well, it promotes positive outcomes for students with disabilities. Benz and Halpern (1993) discovered that interagency collaboration was effective in building school and community capacity to provide better services and resources for students who are going through the transition process.

Additionally, interagency collaboration facilitates student focused planning and student development practices (Collet-Klingenberg, 1998; Kholer & Field, 2003). Students also are more likely to participate in work experiences and plan for their long and short-term endeavors

(Kohler & Field, 2003). More specifically, high school graduation rates and community college enrollment has been found to increase (Newman, 2005).

Research also indicates that a lack of collaboration and cooperation can serve as a barrier to the transition planning implementation and effectiveness (Kohler, 1993; Kohler & Field, 2003; Rusch, Kohler, & Hughes, 1992). The significance of interagency collaboration, rehabilitation professionals@participation, and leadership are needed for an effective transition planning process (Oertle & Trach, 2007). When rehabilitation professionals are involved early on in the process, they are able to develop better services and community links while the student is still in high school (Argan, Cain, & Cavin, 2002). When collaboration is poor between stakeholders it creates disconnect, duplication, and inefficient use of services (Everson & Moon, 1990). Benz, Johnson, Mikkelsen, and Lindstrom (1995) identified barriers such as unproductive transition planning meetings, intimidating language, and difficult agency procedures. Secondary school staff members, parents, and students often times have negative perceptions of outside agencies (Noonan, Morningstar, & Erickson, 2008). The issue of entitlement versus eligibility and differing of services from the school and community agencies also cause many issues when planning for the most appropriate services.

Although there are barriers, interagency collaboration is a key indicator of successful adult outcomes (Kohler, 1993; Kohler & Field, 2003; Noonan, et al., 2008; Rusch, et al., 1992). Noonan, et al. (2008) identified 11 key strategies to enhance interagency collaboration. These strategies included: (1) provide flexible scheduling and staffing, (2) follow-up after high school transition, (3) implement administrative support for transition, (4) use a variety of funding sources, (5) obtain state-supported technical assistance, (6) build relationships, (7) hold agency meetings with students and families, (8) train students and families on different postsecondary

options, (9) offer joint training of staff, (10) meet with agency staff and transition councils, and (11) disseminate information to all stakeholders. To ensure that interagency collaboration remains a priority during the transition planning process for secondary students with disabilities, parents, teachers, students, and outside agencies must utilize an array of approaches such as those just identified to coordinate effective services for students with disabilities.

Student Participation

Although school and other community agencies play a critical role in the transition planning process, students must take ownership. Currently, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (IDEIA; 2004) indicates that by age 16 or younger if appropriate, the IEP must identify measurable postsecondary goals and transition service needs. Goals must be based on studentøs interests, preferences, and needs. Further, students must be invited to meetings discussing the transition planning process and IEP. By taking an active role in the transition process, students will develop self-advocacy and self-determination skills.

Research suggests that many students are not actively participating in their IEP meetings (Newman, 2005). For example in a study of studentsøperspectives of the transition process from school to adult life, Morningstar, et al. (1996) investigated the degree to which students were involved in their IEP meetings. The majority of the studentsøresponses revealed that they knew about their IEP meetings but did not know what an IEP was for and few had actually attended the meeting. The primary reason that students were not participating in their IEP meetings was the students felt the meetings were not helpful to their future plans. Without students actively involving themselves in the planning process, a lot is lost in preparing youth in the transition planning process. While they are in school, students need instruction regarding how they

personally can take actions to overcome obstacles to achieving their own personal goals (Wehmeyer, Palmer, Agran, Mithaug, & Martin, 2000).

Many curricula/materials have been shown to be effective in increasing student participation during the transition process. For example, the *Student-Directed Transition Planning* lessons were developed to teach students about self-awareness of their disabilities, develop postschool goals, and develop a script in order to help facilitate involvement in the IEP process (Sylvester, Woods, & Martin, 2007). The McGill Action Planning System (MAPS) is a õperson-centered processö (pp. 108) that is used to assist in the planning for high school students with disabilities while implementing instruction purposely created to teach students involvement in their IEP process (Salembier & Furney, 1994). The Self-Advocacy Strategy developed by Van Reusen and colleagues (1994) studied the use of *I-PLAN*, which instructed high school students with learning disabilities to participate in their IEP meetings by inventorying strengths, needs, and preferences. This approach addressed acquisition skills such as verbal rehearsal, strategy feedback, and chances to generalize these skills in an actual IEP meeting (Van Reusen, Bos, Schumaker, & Deshler, 1994). Martin, Marshall, Maxson, and Jerman (1996) developed the Self-Directed IEP model. It has been useful in teaching students to participate in and/or lead their transition planning (Martin, et al., 1996). The Self-Directed IEP model also uses video modeling, student assignments, and role-playing to teach students IEP leadership skills. Although curricula are available, transition information about the student has to be gathered first.

Transition Assessments

The foundation of transition planning is assessment. To make more informed educational decisions appropriate assessments have to be performed. In fact, Clark (1996) noted that assessment is an integral and ongoing part of the transition process. Clark defined assessment as

the gathering of information for the purposes of planning instruction, or placement to aid in individual decision making. In the area of transition, the Division on Career Development and Transition (DCDT) of the Council for Exceptional Children defines transition assessments as the ongoing process of collecting data on the individuals needs, preferences, and interests as they relate to the demands of current and future working, educational, living, and personal and social environments. Assessment data serve as the common thread in the transition process and form the basis for defining goals and services to be included in the Individualized Education Program (IEP). (Sitlington, Neubert, & Leconte, 1997, p. 70671)

Transition assessments help in the identification of goals and development of plans (Flexer, et al., 2001). IDEIA (2004) indicates that age appropriate transition assessment is the foundation for identifying õappropriate measurable postsecondary goals related to training, education, employment, and if appropriate independent living skillsö (P.L. 108-446, Section 614).

Transition assessment covers a wide range of areas including academics, personal/social, career, and daily living. An assessment that provides information in these areas enable students to make informed choices that will enhance postschool outcomes (Sitlington et al., 1997).

Students must be provided with information and experiences that will help them in deciding their interests, needs, and preferences related to their long-term goals. Transition assessments can also have students assume the duties of facilitating their own assessment and transition process (Sitlington et al., 1997). While this goal allows students to be aware of their needs and interests, it also encourages the use of self-determination skills such as problem-solving, decision making, and self-advocacy (Test, et al., 2006). Finally, transition assessment ensures that all parties involved in the planning process a have comprehensive understanding of the skills related to

postschool outcomes that will lead to goal setting and the selection of a course of study (Sitlington et al., 1997).

Information from transition assessments is very beneficial to the development of the IEP. This information is used to develop goals and objectives, and identify other agencies that will provide support and services to the student as an adult (Clark, 1996). Accommodations needed in post-secondary education and employment can also be determined (Morningstar et al., 2010). Assessing career/vocational interests and skills is essential because of the emphasis on career development in IDEA and the importance of work (Clark, 1996).

Transition assessments can be categorized as formal or informal. Formal assessments usually involve the use of standardized procedures for administering, scoring, and interpreting the assessment (Flexer, et al., 2007). However, informal assessment procedures allow student performance to be measured over time (Flexer, et al., 2007). These assessments are helpful in creating and evaluating the effects of academic interventions. Additionally, data from informal assessments can be collected from parents, teacher, employers, and other stakeholders (Kortering & Braziel, 2003).

Transition assessments should meet student individual needs as well as provide information to IEP team members about interests and preferences. When conducting formal and informal assessments, Sitlington and colleagues (1997) created nine guidelines to assist secondary educators select the most appropriate assessment for students with disabilities during the transition process. These guidelines include: (1) methods must incorporate assistive technology or accommodations that allow an individual to demonstrate his or her abilities and potential; (2) methods must occur in settings that resemble actual education/training, employment, independent living, or community environments; (3) methods must produce

outcomes that contribute to ongoing development, planning, and implementation of õnext stepsö in an individualos transition process; (4) methods must be varied and include a sequence of activities that sample an individualos behavior and skills over time; (5) data should be verified by more than one method and by more than one person; (6) data must be synthesized and interpreted to students with disabilities, their families, and transition team members; (7) data and results must be documented in a format that can be used to facilitate transition planning; (8) methods should be appropriate for learning characteristics of the individual, including cultural and linguistic differences; and (9) information should be current, valid or verified, and relevant to transition in order to better inform the Summary of Performance (SOP). The SOP allows the school district to provide the student with a summary of his or her academic achievement and functional performance. It also must include recommendations on how to assist the student in meeting his or her postschool transition goals (IDEIA, 2004).

In sum, providing effective secondary special education transition programs is a right and need for adolescents with disabilities. Due to the unique academic and behavior needs of students with disabilities and the need for better postschool outcomes for these students, recognizing and effectively using evidence-based practices are of the utmost importance for special education teachers (Kretlow & Blatz, 2011; Landmark, Ju, & Zhang, 2010). The evidenced-based practices teachers use must assist in the development and implementation of individualized educational planning for youth with disabilities so they can move from high school to postschool activities successfully. This section described several of the evidence-based practices that teachers have direct control of teaching self-determination, involving families, encouraging student participation, encouraging interagency participation, and conducting appropriate transition assessments.

Unfortunately, many special education teachers lack the knowledge and skills to implement these practices effectively and report feeling unprepared to work with secondary students with disabilities (Anderson et al., 2003). Secondary special educators must have the confidence to promote effective student learning. This impacts their sense of self-efficacy. Special educatorsøself-efficacy plays a key role in classroom learning and predicting positive postschool outcomes for students with disabilities. The next section addresses teacher self-efficacy.

Special Education Teachers' Efficacy

Self-efficacy is a belief in one ability to execute the actions necessary to achieve certain levels of performance; it influences behavior and affects individuals goal setting, efforts, and levels of determination (Bandura, 1977, 1986, 1993). Efficacy beliefs have been tied to both children and adults goognitive and social functioning (Deemer & Minke, 1999). When it pertains to teachers, the teacher efficacy is paired with better instructional practices and attitudes towards students (Ashton & Webb, 1986; Bender, Vail, & Scott, 1995; Gibson & Dembo, 1984; Midgley, Anderman, & Hicks, 1995). Pre-service, novice, and in-service teachers at the elementary, middle, and secondary level in various environments have participated in studies that reflect the positive feelings of efficacy as a teacher (Deemer & Minke, 1999). This section of the paper will review self-efficacy literature focusing on (a) Bandura theory of self-efficacy, (b) evolution and measurement of teacher efficacy, (c) efficacy of instructing students with disabilities, and (d) efficacy of pre-service teachers.

Bandura's Theory

In 1977, Albert Bandura provided a theoretical framework for studying the construct of self-efficacy. The theory of self-efficacy suggested that õcognitive processes mediate change,

but that cognitive events are induced and altered most readily by experience of mastery arising from effective performanceö (Bandura, 1977, p. 191). Additionally, Bandura (1977) argued that human behavior is controlled by the individualøs beliefs regarding two classes of expectations: an outcome expectation and an efficacy expectation. An outcome expectation is when a person estimates that a given behavior will lead to specific outcomes (Bandura, 1977). An efficacy expectation is the belief that one can successfully carry out the expected behavior to achieve the required outcomes (Bandura, 1977). In general, self-efficacy is the expectation a person has about his or her own ability to successfully carry out tasks at a specific level of performance (Bandura, 1997).

In order to better execute specific tasks, Bandura (1977, 1997) described four sources of self-efficacy: mastery experiences, physiological and emotional states, vicarious experiences, and social persuasion. Mastery experiences are the strongest source of efficacy information. The perception that a performance has been successful raises efficacy beliefs, contributing to the belief that performance will be successful in the future. Physiological and emotional states heighten the individuals feelings of competence or failure. Vicarious experiences are those in which a certain skill is modeled by someone else. The extent that the observer identifies with the model, determines the efficacy effect on the observer (Bandura, 1977). Social persuasions may entail specific verbal feedback from a supervisor, a colleague, or informal conversations from other co-workers that can lead to successful performances. These performances allow the individuals self-efficacy to increase and it leads the person to initiate a new task, attempt new strategies, or provide extra effort to become successful (Bandura, 1982). The effectiveness of the persuasion depends on the trustworthiness, expertise, and reliability of the persuader

(Bandura, 1986). In order to truly understand the effectiveness of efficacy, the construct has to be measured.

The Evolution and Measurement of Teacher Efficacy

Teacher efficacy was first introduced in the mid-seventies by research projects funded by Title III of the Federal Elementary and Secondary Education Act (Woolfolk & Hoy, 1990). In these studies (Armor et al., 1976; Berman, McLaughlin, Bass, Pauly, & Zellman, 1977) teacher efficacy was determined by examining teachersøresponses to items from two Research And Development (RAND) studies. Studies at RAND investigated the improvement of policies and decisions that is made through research and analysis. Items selected from two different RAND studies included were: (a) õWhen it comes right down to it, a teacher really canøt do much because a studentøs motivation and performance depends on his or her home environmentö and (b) õIf I try really hard, I can get through to even the most difficult or unmotivated studentö (p. 82). The findings of these studies suggested that teachersøsense of efficacy had a positive relationship with student performance (Tschannen-Moran, Hoy, & Hoy, 1998).

In 1984, Gibson and Dembo wanted to improve upon the RAND items. They sought to develop a scale that was reliable and valid that could be used to study teacher efficacy. A three-phase study was conducted, and it resulted in the creation of the *Teacher Efficacy Scale*. The scale investigated the relationship between teacher efficacy and classroom behavior. Initially, a 53-item pilot study of the *Teacher Efficacy Scale* was developed from teacher interviews and a review of the literature. A total of 90 teachers were given the items and a factor analysis was provided. Shortly thereafter the revised *Teacher Efficacy Scale* included 30 items with a 6-point Likert Scale (Gibson & Dembo, 1984).

The pilot study resulted in a valid and reliable measure of the teacher efficacy scale. The scale was administered to 208 elementary school teachers from 13 schools. Data from phase one disclosed a two-factor model that is parallel to Banduraø model of self-efficacy. According to Bandura (1977), motivation is determined by individualsøjudgment of their ability to perform different behavior (efficacy expectation) and their beliefs about the possible consequences of those actions (outcome expectations). Gibson and Dembo (1984) called Factor 1, Personal Teaching Efficacy (self-efficacy). Factor 2 was Teaching Efficacy (outcome expectancy). The second factor is a more reliable indicator of teacherøs efficacy (Hoy & Woolfolk, 1993; Woolfolk & Hoy, 1990; Woolfolk, Rosoff, & Hoy, 1990).

The second phase of the study determined whether or not a teacher sense of efficacy can be differentiated from other constructs and if data from the *Teacher Sense of Efficacy Scale* can be collected from other sources (Gibson & Dembo, 1984). With these questions in mind, Gibson and Dembo surveyed 55 teachers on teacher sense of efficacy, verbal ability and flexibility. Flexibility and verbal ability were compared to each other because they are traits of effective teachers (Gibson & Dembo, 1984). The authors measured the teacher sense of efficacy by using the *Teacher Efficacy Scale* and open-ended questions that required participants to choose 10 to 20 variables that effect students success in school. The findings showed a strong evidence for the convergence of teacher sense of efficacy when measured by these two methods. Moreover, multi-trait multi-method data analysis indicated a strong evidence for discriminant validity, verifying that teacher sense of efficacy is distinctly different from verbal ability and flexibility.

The third and final phase of Gibson and Demboøs study investigated the difference between teachers with high and low self-efficacy and the behaviors and patterns each teacher

used in the classroom. There were four high efficacy teachers who were defined as teachers whose Factor 1 Personal Teaching Efficacy scores fell within the top 6% of the frequency distribution. The Factor 2 Teaching Efficacy scores fell within the bottom 22% of the distribution from the first phase of the study. There were also 4 low efficacy teachers selected to participate. The low efficacy teachers were defined as teachers whose Factor 1 scores fell in the bottom 45%. Additionally, the Factor 2 scores fell within the top 27% of the distribution.

Teacher-use-time and question-answer-feedback measures were used to collect data on the teacher classroom behaviors and patterns. The instruments provided information on the proportion of time a teacher spent on instructional activities, the quality of the students responses, and the nature of the feedback. Each teacher was observed for a total of seven hours by three different trained observers.

Findings revealed that low-efficacy teachers spent 48% of their time in small group instruction. The data also revealed that many of the students spent the remainder of class time engaged in off-task behavior without redirection. However, high-efficacy teachers spent 28% of their time in small group instruction while redirecting students who were working independently. The high-efficacy teachers were observed using most of their instructional time in whole group instruction and engaged most students. There was a significant difference in the lack of persistence among the low-efficacy and the high-efficacy teachers. When students were unsuccessful, low-efficacy teachers were more likely to provide the correct answer, ask other students, or allow the answer to be stated aloud. High-efficacy teachers probed students to the correct answer by asking a series of questions.

Efficacy of Teachers Instructing Students with Disabilities

More recent self-efficacy research has found a relationship between teacher efficacy and important secondary outcomes. For example, Hoy and Woolfolk (1993) and Soodak and Podell (1993) found that teacher efficacy has been positively correlated to higher academic achievement, effective teacher practices, increased family involvement, and higher levels of teacher job commitment. These factors alone create a better academic environment for instructing students with disabilities. Ashton and Webb (1986) explained that teachersøsense of efficacy is important because it influences teachersøunderstanding of their position in the classroom, their attitudes toward their work, and their exchanges with their students. Further, Allinder (1994) found those teachers who have positive feelings and influences feel more comfortable about including and instructing students with disabilities. While the majority of the research has been conducted with students without disabilities, several studies have examined teacher self-efficacy and students with disabilities. These studies are described next.

Freytag (2001) surveyed 36 general educators and 12 special educators with the *Teacher Efficacy Scale* (Gibson & Dembo, 1984). The purpose of the study was to investigate teachersø level of perceived efficacy and the impact of pre-service inclusion courses. The data suggested that the number of inclusion courses taken during pre-service preparation was not related to the level of efficacy perception. However, the findings did reveal a significant difference in personal sense of efficacy between general and special educators. Special education teachers had higher levels of confidence when teaching children with disabilities in an inclusive setting.

Buell, Hallam, Gamel-McCormick, and Scheer (1999) reported findings from a statewide needs assessment. The purpose of the needs assessment was to strengthen the statesø

Comprehensive System of Personnel Development. There were 202 general educators and 87

special educators who were surveyed about their feelings of efficacy regarding teaching students with disabilities. The survey included three sections: (a) õteacherøs confidence regarding student success in inclusive settings,ö (b) õteachersø in-service needs regarding inclusive education,ö and (c) õteachersø perception of necessary programmatic supports for successful inclusionary practicesö (p. 147). Results revealed a significant difference between general educators and special educators in regards to teacherøs feeling of efficacy concerning educating students with disabilities in the areas of assessing progress, adapting curriculum, managing behavior, developing IEPs, and using assistive technology, which were identified as the greatest needs for general educators. Special educators reported significantly more confidence in all aspects of inclusive classroom except for working with parents and assistive technology.

Brownell and Pajares (1999) used a survey titled, *Working with Diverse Students*. The purpose of *The General Educator's Perspective* was to investigate whether seven variables had either a direct or indirect impact on teachers sense of efficacy, which in turn have a direct impact on general educatorsøsuccess in instructing students with disabilities. One hundred twenty-eight (128) elementary general education teachers from Florida participated in the study. The survey measured seven variables that included: (a) in-service training, (b) special education support, (c) pre-service preparation, (d) general support, (e) social economic status of students, (f) collegiality with special education, and (g) collegiality with regular education. A path analysis was conducted to examine the direct and indirect effects between variables. Results indicated that general education teachers reported that they are more successful with educating students with disabilities when they have participated in in-service programs that include information about (a) the needs of students with disabilities, (b) curricular and instructional

accommodations, and (c) behavior management techniques for students with disabilities than general education teachers who do not participate in these trainings.

Tschannen-Moran et al. (1998) reviewed published literature between 1974 and 1997; they concluded that general education teachers with high levels of teaching efficacy were more likely to consider the general education classroom as the appropriate place for students with problems in learning. The authors found that a teacher sense of efficacy predicted their eagerness to teach students experiencing learning difficulties.

In 1994, Allinder examined the relationship between personal sense of efficacy and teacher sense of general efficacy and the following three instructional variables: business-like approach, instructional experimentation, and assuredness of 437 special education teachers. Efficacy was measured by the *Teacher Efficacy Scale* (Gibson & Dembo, 1984) and the instructional variables were measured by the *Teacher Characteristic Scale* (Fuchs, Fuchs, & Bishop, 1992). A multiple regression analysis indicated that personal sense of efficacy was significantly related to all three instructional variables and teaching was significantly related to assuredness (Allinder, 1994). Teachers who had a greater confidence in their abilities to teach students were more likely to implement effective teaching techniques, be more business-like in their classrooms, and be more assured during instruction.

Soodak and Podell (1993) investigated three different hypotheses related to teachersø efficacy: (a) general classroom teachers with greater perception of efficacy will be more likely to maintain general education placement of students with behavior and/or learning concerns, (b) students with a combination of learning and behavior problems will be referred to special education more often than students with a single deficit, and (c) personal and general sense of teaching efficacy will impact placement and referral decisions. General educators (n = 96) and

special educators (n = 96) were randomly assigned a case study describing a male student who was in the second grade with either a learning problem, behavior problem, or both. The teachers were asked to indicate the degree to which they agreed with the placement in the general education classroom and whether they would refer this student to special education. The teachersølevels of efficacy were measured using the *Teacher Efficacy Scale* (Gibson & Dembo, 1984).

The researchers found that general education teachers who perceive themselves to be effective were more likely to believe the general education placement is suitable. However, the extent of teacher sense of efficacy was not related to special education teacher judgment of appropriate placement for students with learning or behavior concerns. Results also indicated that teachers were more likely to report the general education setting as appropriate if the student displayed either a learning or behavior problem, but not both. Last, the data indicated that teachers must feel both confident with their own teaching and the effects of teaching in general to agree with general education placement.

In sum, previous research has indicated that general and special educators who have higher levels of efficacy are more effective in educating students with disabilities (Ashton & Webb, 1986; Brownell & Pajares, 1999; Buell, et al., 1999; Soodak & Podell, 1993). One must ask the question, when does the sense of efficacy begin for those teachers identified in the studies? Teaching efficacy begins at the pre-service preparation stage of becoming an educator. Preparing undergraduate level educators well and building their teacher efficacy have been found to improve teacher retention and instructional motivation (Darling-Hammond, 2003; Guskey, 1988).

Pre-service Educators' Efficacy

Efficacy beliefs of pre-service teachers have been connected to attitudes toward children and control (Woolfolk & Hoy, 1990). Undergraduates with a low sense of teacher efficacy take negative views of studentsø motivation and rely on strict classroom management, extrinsic rewards, and punishments to make students achieve (Woolfolk & Hoy, 1990). Once pre-service teachers are engaged in practical experiences, efficacy beliefs have an impact on studentøs behavior. Student interns with higher personal teaching efficacy were rated more positively on lesson presenting behavior, classroom management, and questioning behavior by their university supervisor on their evaluations (Saklosfske, Michaluk, & Randhawa, 1988).

The progression of teacher efficacy beliefs among prospective teachers has produced some interest once efficacy beliefs are established. There is some evidence that course work and practica experiences impact both personal and general teaching efficacy (Saklosfske, et al., 1988). General teaching efficacy appears to increase during college coursework, then decline during student teachings (Hoy & Woolfolk, 1990). These findings suggest that pre-service teachersøoptimism becomes tainted when the realities and difficulties of a teaching task is presented.

Campbell (1996) studied the differences of efficacy between pre-services and in-service teachers in Scottish and American teachers. His study analyzed Scottish pre-service teachers (n = 34) and Scottish in-service teachers (n = 39) and American pre-service teachers (n = 32) and American in-service teachersø(n = 35) sense of efficacy. A modified version of the *Teacher Efficacy Scale* (Gibson & Dembo, 1984) and a questionnaire by Naring (1990) assessed teacher sense of efficacy. The results showed no differences in teacher sense of efficacy between the two countries. However, there was a significant difference between pre-service and in-service

teachers from both countries. Campbell also found a significant relationship between teacher sense of efficacy and age, level of degree, and years of experience. In-service teachers had a higher level of efficacy, indicating that teacher sense of efficacy increases with experience.

Research indicates that pre-service training has a direct impact on teacher¢s sense of efficacy, and an indirect effect on the success of teaching students with disabilities (Brownell & Pajares, 1999). Tschannen-Moran, et al. (1998) expressed how important it is to develop strong efficacy beliefs early in preparation programs because the levels of efficacy are difficult to adjust. Therefore, pre-service training plays a vital role in the development of teacher sense of efficacy.

Brownell and Pajares (1999) stressed the importance of recognizing differences in special education pre-service programs for special educators and the impact of program components on their teachersøefficacy beliefs. The authors hoped that university programs that prepare general and special educators simultaneously would produce graduates that would be more confident in teaching children with disabilities. Additionally, Buell, et al. (1999) agreed with Brownell and Pajares (1999) as they asserted the need for general education courses to include more information on teaching students with disabilities. Buell and colleagues found that the reported teaching needs of general educators are typical pre-service topics needed in preparatory programs for special education teachers. The training topics included program modification, assessing academic progress, adapting curriculum, managing studentsøbehavior, developing IEPs, and using assistive technology. Buell and colleagues (1999) declared that it is critical for general educators to feel confident in doing these tasks for inclusion to be successful.

There is confirmation that educatorsøbelief in their abilities to teach students may account for the difference in effectiveness (Armor et al., 1976; Berman & McLaughlin, 1977;

Brophy & Everston, 1976). Teacher efficacy provides educators with the confidence to attempt to apply their knowledge at the appropriate times. Further, the extent to which teachers believe they can affect student learning may influence teacher-student interaction and teachersø success in facilitating gains in student achievement (Gibson & Dembo, 1984). Additionally, teacher efficacy also supports the need to provide better outcomes for students with disabilities during the transition planning process. However, many special educators who prepare transition-age students do not feel prepared enough to support the student during their transition from high school to postschool settings (Anderson, et al., 2003).

Inadequate preparation of the educators who serve students with disabilities is one of the main reasons why transition goals are not achieved (Anderson, et al., 2003). Preparing individuals to provide coordinated transition services can become very difficult and time-consuming. Also, transition personnel are often not fully trained to deliver effective transition services or work collaboratively with other agency representatives. In order to improve transition service delivery that will promote successful student outcomes, special educators need to gain knowledge in transition-related content. This content can be learned during personnel preparation (Anderson, et al.). Typically, transition personnel receive most of their training from their local school district through their special education department (Anderson, et al.). On the job training leaves educators who are responsible for implementing transition services unclear about current policy, planning, and evaluation for students with disabilities (Green & Kochhar-Bryant, 2003).

Middle and high schools count on their special education teachers to effectively plan and implement transition services for students with disabilities. However, teachers do not feel adequately prepared to conduct and support these services. In 2003, a national leadership

summit was held to improve results for youth with disabilities. There were more than 250 agency leaders, policy-makers, educators, parents, and youth with disabilities that identified professional development for transition as one of the highest precedence for states (National Center for Secondary Education and Transition, 2004). In the pursuit to support the need for improved teacher preparation in implementation of transition services to students with disabilities, the next section of the paper will discuss the role of a secondary special educator, the transition gap, and key content for secondary special educators.

Secondary Special Educators Roles and Responsibilities

The No Child Left Behind Act (2001) and 2004 Amendments to IDEA emphasized a better foundation for special education that emphasizes successful postschool outcomes for students with disabilities. In response to the recent changes in legislation and student performance, secondary special educators must be prepared to teach in a manner that is culturally competent while providing access to general curriculum standards that link academic and social experiences to successful postschool outcomes (Morningstar & Kleinhammer-Tramill, 2005). The roles and responsibilities of special educators have changed tremendously over the past decade (Billingsley, Carlson, & Klein, 2004; Luft, 2008; Singh & Billingsley, 1996; Weiss & Lloyd, 2002; Wisniewski & Gargiulo, 1997). The increased need to include students with disabilities has caused special educators to spend more time in the general education classroom collaborating in the delivery of instruction (Shealey, Mchatton, & Farmer, 2009; Wasburn-Moses, 2005). In response to the changes, teacher preparation programs for pre-service special educators need to adapt their programs to prepare their students for the challenges of serving students with diverse needs in inclusive settings. These changes have shifted the need of

individuality in the area of special education and created new meanings to standards and accountability (Shealey, et al., 2009).

The overall goal of these changes is to ensure that every child is taught by a highly qualified teacher (NCLB, 2005). To be deemed as a highly qualified teacher, an educator must have at least a bachelor degree, certification in his or her content area, and demonstrated competency in the core academics subject(s) he or she teaches. The same requirements are applied to special education teachers who provide direct instruction in core content areas to youth who are following a regular diploma track. In other words, secondary special educators must be certified in both special education and the content area in order to fully teach student with disabilities in a content area at the middle or secondary level.

In addition to being competent in a specific content area, secondary special educators have many other responsibilities. Secondary special education teachers have to collect, manage, and analyze data to improve teaching and learning (Codding, Skowron, & Pace, 2005). They also have to be able to implement universal design (Hitchock, Meyer, Rose, & Jackson, 2002), learning strategies (Deshler, Ellis, & Lenz, 1996), assistive technologies (Söderström & Ytterhus, 2010), and behavior management (Hayes, Hindle, & Withington, 2007). Most importantly, the secondary special educator must be able to create and effectively implement the IEP. General and special secondary educators must use the IEP as a tool and resource for planning student@s educational goals and objectives.

Wasburn-Moses (2005) conducted a survey on 191 high school special education teachers that investigated their daily job roles and responsibilities. The author found that coteaching was the teachersøprimary role; however they only co-taught õrarely.ö Although very few teachers co-taught, the special education teachers did work with the general education

teachers. On average, the participants directly taught between three and four different classes per day. The classes were mostly content courses (English/language arts, mathematics, science, social studies) rather than non-content specific courses (e.g., study skills, vocational skills). The teachers indicated that when working with students they spent about 18% of the time during class providing individualized instruction. The majority of the participants (67%) indicated that they implemented accommodations for students on a daily basis. Additionally, almost all participants (89.5%) stated that they managed student behavior daily.

Conderman and Katisyannis (2002) surveyed 132 secondary special educators who taught grades 7th through 12th. The teachers reported that 42% of their time was spent in a combination of roles: consulting with general educators, co-teaching, coordinating work experiences, and teaching in general education classes. Content instruction was found to be implemented the most by 85% of the teachers. Almost 80% of the participants indicated that they developed IEPs, wrote lesson plans, conducted assessments, and scheduled meetings. However, these responsibilities only accounted for 25% or less of their time. Furthermore, the secondary special education teachers provided remediation on basic skills, demonstrated learning strategies, supported students, and taught functional living skills.

As noted above, secondary special education teachers are responsible for a wide range of skills and roles. They work in different environments while teaching and accommodating content across many different levels. Sadly, the individualized instruction that is needed to improve post-school outcomes for secondary students with disabilities is not being effectively implemented (Council for Exceptional Children, 2001; Gersten, Keating, Yovanoof, & Harniss, 2001). This problem is very common in the area of transition services. One of the responsibilities of the secondary special educator is to provide vocational instruction, organize

work experiences, and retain community contacts that support the transition planning process (Conderman & Katisyannis, 2002). Asselin, Todd-Allen, and deFur (1998) emphasized the changes in IDEA® language for transition has brought on a new duty for special educators that include transition services and activities. However, there is a gap between these roles and responsibilities and the teachersøknowledge and skills.

The Transition Gap

Although there have been strides in defining the roles and responsibilities of secondary special educators, there is a critical shortage of special education teachers who are competent in the area of transition (Wolfe, Boone, & Blanchett, 1998). Personnel development has been recognized as a strategy for systematic change and improvements in the area of special education (Kochar-Bryant, 2003). Many secondary teachers are unprepared and unable to plan and deliver effective transition services that will promote better outcomes for students with disabilities (Benitez, Morningstar, & Frey, 2009). Morningstar and Clark (2003) noted that there has been an increased focus on transition skills and knowledge in some special education teacher preparation program, but not all.

The transition requirements that are underlined in IDEA challenge many school districts and secondary special education supervisors and teachers. Unfortunately, many teacher training programs do not adequately prepare secondary special education teachers. The severity of this problem is clear in national survey results that found less than one half of 573 special education programs addressed transition standards and only 45% offered an individual course that is devoted solely to the area of transition (Anderson et al., 2003). Even though 70% of the instructors reported embedding transition content into other existing courses, they admitted to spending less time on teaching transition competencies to pre-service educators. These findings

were comparable with earlier research that found embedding transition content does not permit sufficient coverage of critical transition-related content (Severson, Hoover, & Wheeler, 1994).

Key Content for Secondary Special Educators

The expansion of secondary special education teacher¢s roles requires teacher training programs to expand their focus to reflect essential competencies for effective transition delivery (Wandry, Webb, Williams, Bassett, Asselin, & Hutchinson, 2008). However, the literature suggests that many pre-service educator preparation programs have not sufficiently addressed this need. For example, Benitez, et al. surveyed 557 middle and high school special education teachers from 31 states on their perceptions of important transition competencies compared to their level of preparedness. The teachers reported completing an average of one course in the area of transition during the teacher preparation program. They also reported that they felt somewhat unprepared to deliver transition services (Benitez, et al., 2009).

Many special education programs focus solely on the IEP process and special education law that is related to the transition process. However, Knott and Asselin (1999) noted an evident lack of preparation for practical experience in the area. If special education professionals lack knowledge and practical skills, they will be less likely to provide and apply successful transition services. The outcomes of unprepared teachers will present a hardship on students with disabilities when preparing to exit high school and achieve positive post-secondary outcomes.

In creating programs to prepare transition professionals, colleges and universities rely on resources that help them create programs based on best practices. The Council for Exceptional Children (CEC) is the primary national organization in the field of special education. Through its performance-based standards it has identified the knowledge and skills that beginning teachers and transition specialists need (Trussell, et al., 2008). However, many colleges and

universities do not offer transition specific programs or certifications. Most special education programs have embedded these preferred areas of knowledge and skills into their course requirements. The transition knowledge and skills that pre-service teachers need are usually not developed until they obtain careers in a school system (Trussell et al., 2008).

Several studies have examined teacher perceived competencies and preparation in the area of transition. For example, Weidenthal and Kochar-Bryant (2007) examined middle and high special educators practices associated with implementing transition services for students with disabilities ages 14 and 15. The study looked at student participation and attendance during scheduled IEP meetings. Results revealed that 56% of the students were almost always present. If they did not attend, 55% of the times steps were taken to include preferences, interests, and needs. As for participation, 94% of the teachers informed students about the importance of being an active member of the team. However, actual participation in the meeting was low. The study revealed that special educators and transition personnel should be trained to increase the areas that are needed to promote a successful transition process.

Morningstar and Clark (2003) evaluated the status of personnel preparation for transition. They identified five areas that are critical in preparing secondary special education teachers:

- 1. Knowledge of the principles and basic concepts of transition education and services ó pre-service special educator should have a thorough knowledge and application of the transition service requirements of IDEA. Also, the up-and-coming practices that focuses on the IEP.
- 2. **Knowledge of models of transition and services** ô knowledge of specific transition program models that can be applied across all disability groups that are aligned with general education secondary standards.

- 3. Skills in using strategies for developing, organizing, and implementing transition education and services ô information on strategies to implement transition specific activities, as well as implementing assessments, service coordination, and curriculum planning with general and secondary instructional programs.
- 4. **Knowledge and use of collaboration competencies** ô pre-service educators should be knowledgeable in the numerous agencies, programs, and services to support youth with disabilities. Professional interaction is also encouraged to help maintain these relationships with community members.
- 5. Knowledge and skills to address systemic problems in transition delivery the capacity to understand and address barriers and strategies for planning, creating, implementing, and encouraging transition services and programs across many different levels.

These five areas are consistent with the research in the field of secondary teacher preparation and effective practices for transition programs (Kohler, 1998). Moreover, they reflect the need for critical transition planning across multiple levels (Lattin, Dove, Morningstar, Kleinhammer-Tramill, & Frey, 2004). Secondary special educators should be taught õhow toö and not just the õwhat isö in transition planning (Morningstar & Kleinhammer-Tramill, 2005).

Another source of information for identifying critical content and skills for secondary teachers is Kohlerøs (1996) *Taxonomy for Transition Programming*. Kohlerøs *Taxonomy* is an applied framework of secondary education practices associated with improving post-school outcomes for youths with disabilities. The framework was developed as a product of four studies which sought to categorize effective secondary transition practices supported with evidence through a review of the literature (Kohler, 1993), an analysis of commendable transition

programs identified through evaluation studies (Kohler, et al., 1994), a meta-evaluation of model demonstration transition program outcomes and activities (Rusch, et al., 1992), and a concept mapping process (Kohler, 1996). Kohlerøs (1996) taxonomy for transition programs serves as the model for structuring transition content. The five areas include:

- Student-focused planning. Student-focused planning practices centers on using
 assessment information and aiding studentsøin developing self-determination skills
 that will support their individual education programs based on studentsøpost-school
 goals.
- 2. Student development. Student development practices emphasize life, employment, and occupational skill development through school-based and work-based learning experiences. Student assessment results and accommodations provide a fundamental basis for student development that result in successful transition.
- 3. Interagency collaboration. Interagency collaboration activities facilitate involvement of community businesses, organizations, and agencies in all facets of transition-focused education. Interagency agreements that directly outline roles, responsibilities, communication strategies, and other collaborative actions that enhance curriculum and program development foster collaboration.
- 4. Family involvement. Family involvement practices are associated with parent and family involvement in planning and delivering education and transition services.
 Family-focused training and family empowerment activities increase the ability of family members to work effectively with educators and other service providers.
- 5. **Program structure**. Program structures and characteristic are features that relate to efficient and effective delivery of transition-focused education and services, including

philosophy, planning, policy, evaluation, and human resource development. The structures and attributes of a school provide the framework for better transition services.

Both CEC¢s performance-based transition standards and Kohler¢s *Taxonomy for Transition*Programming provide direction and guidelines for teacher training programs. Designing programs that reflect knowledge and skills related to the standards and the taxonomies will help ensure future teachers are well-prepared to teach secondary students with disabilities.

In summary, the transition from high school has been understood as one of the most difficult developmental changes confronting adolescents (Branstad et al., 2002). Current research findings are consistent with previous research in that there are gaps in transition knowledge that teachers have, and how often transition services are provided (Knott & Asselin, 1999). Secondary special educators must be trained in areas that support the planning process for students and families. Preparing qualified transition personnel is documented in the literature as one of the most critical areas of improving students with disabilitiesøpost-school outcomes (Blalock et al., 2003; Kohler, 1993). However, the required knowledge and skills extend well beyond what many educators are taught in their preparation program (Anderson et al., 2003).

Case Study Methodology in Special Education

The issue of lack of preparation in the field of secondary special education and transition specific content has prompted the development of innovative ways to prepare pre-service educators during their preparation programs. The transfer of acquired knowledge and skills to actual practice is an important instructional outcome for special education training programs. Efforts have been made to increase the transfer and application of what is learned in the classroom to real life situations (Block, 1996; Gurman, Holliman, & Camperell, 1988).

Consequently, a range of instructional tools have been developed that demonstrate a pre-service educator application of knowledge. The purpose of this section is to provide a foundation for the use of case studies in assessing secondary special education professionals. The case study method will be defined and a rationale for case method instruction and assessment in special education will be discussed as well.

Background of Case Method Teaching

Case studies have been used in many different fields of educational preparation such as medicine, nursing, law, and business (Block, 1996; Dardig, 1995; Velenchik, 1995). The methodology was originally used at the Harvard Business School in response to the need to bridge a gap between knowledge learned in the classroom and actual practical experiences in the field (McWilliams, 1992). Using cases of fictional businesses, students had to manage the business while applying the instructors changes in the environment, so that the student could practice what had been learned in simulated situations (Richardson & Ginter, 1998). In the field of medicine, pre-med students and pre-nurses learn general principles as part of their knowledgebase and then apply their knowledge to cases. In law schools, pre-law students reason facts from previous court cases and apply precedents to their own case. Cases provide repeated opportunities to practice the principles of law and generalize the laws and principles to different situations.

Over the past ten years, there has been increased interest in case method teaching in the field of education to train pre-service educators (Boyle & Danforth, 2001). Educating preservice teachers involves more than teaching a knowledge-base; instead, programs should encourage generalizing and applying ideas from research so teachers can make better educational decisions for students (Ferstermacher, 1986). Case method teaching can enhance the knowledge

base of future teachers (Boyle & Danforth). It can provide them with problem solving and decision making skills. Harrington and Garrison (1992) found that some educators feel that cases õbring to lifeö the knowledge pre-service teachers learned through their courses and allows them to õthink like teachers.Ö It also develops a higher order of thinking skills in students who use the case, resulting in a type of learning that continues long after the case has been discussed (Kuntz & Hessler, 1998). To further understand the importance of case method instruction, the strategy must be clearly defined.

Case Method Instruction Defined Through Teacher Preparation

Case study method teaching is a method to ōconnectö theory with practice, especially when problems from cases are explored in an environment of ōshared inquiryö (Harrington & Garrison, 1992). Essentially, case studies are stories through which the reader gains insight into lives of student, teachers, and parents (Butera & Dunn, 2005). Theories that are learned during education courses are viewed through the use of case method instruction. Case studies also provide student teachers with the opportunity to reflect on their actions in certain situations. This allows instructors to provide much needed practice with identifying and solving problems related to the field. Therefore, case studies are used to develop skills in the area of collaboration and interpersonal communication as students work with their peers and offer commentary on problems and possible solutions (Elksnin, 2001; Manoucherhi & Enderson, 2003). Additionally, case studies may illustrate concepts in teaching particular lessons and practices that are given to pre-service teachers during class time (Elksnin, 1998, 2001).

To ensure that the case method of instruction is not confusing but effective, the instructor can provide detailed explanations and processes to filling in or problem solving for a specific case. Wasserman (1994 a, b) suggested four steps to preparing future educators to use cases in

the case method process. In the orientation stage, the instructor provides an explicit description of the expectations of the assignment and evaluation process of the assignment. Second, study or discussion questions are included with each case to assist the student with developing comprehensive answers that cover all issues and problems. The questions are framed to request specific details and engage students in higher order thinking.

Third, the instructor prepares students to work collaboratively in small groups. The purpose of the small groups is to encourage discussion and deliberation of the case. Small groups also relieve students of their anxiety of expressing their opinions. During the small group discussion, the instructor might recommend a problem solving procedure to better address the underlying issues of the case. Martin, Glatthorn, Winters, and Saif (1989) suggested six steps to problem solving and analyzing cases. The six steps include: (a) list the underlying issues of the case, (b) suggest solutions to determine the issues, (c) explain a rationale for the proposed solution, (d) list several potential consequences for each proposed solution, (e) provide an order for the solutions based upon the likelihood of success, and (f) present the suggested solution to the class.

Wassermanøs (1994 b) fourth and final component described the role of the instructor. He or she should be a facilitator during the discussion or debriefing of the case. As well, the instructor should establish an environment that students feel free to reject or disagree with their peersøresponses. To facilitate the discussion, the instructor must paraphrase and summarize studentsøresponses so that their statements are clear and understood. Questions also should be introduced to redirect to the main issues. Finally, the instructor should refrain from expressing his or her opinions during the discussion.

Although Wassermann suggested only four steps to teaching case studies, Boyle and Danforth (2001) recommended a fifth component to assist students with closure of a certain issue. Follow-up activities are proposed to center specific issues in the case. The instructor can develop these activities to further understand a concept or issue that the case provides. These activities could come in many different forms, such as videos, reading, observations, out-of-class discussions, or revisiting the issue (Boyle & Danforth, 2001). The purpose of the fifth component is to ensure that pre-service educators fully understand the issues and how to problem-solve for the case. The steps described by Wassermann (1994 a) and Boyle and Danforth (2001) provide a foundation for implementing case methodology in the field of special education.

Case studies can help preparation programs integrate knowledge within and across courses and other learning experiences (Darling-Hammond & Snyder, 2000). Harrington (1995) found that analysis of cases can help pre-service teachers develop reasoning skills, allowing them to accurately identify important issues and thoughtfully analyze an educational dilemma. He also found that pre-service teachersøpedagogical reasoning increased through reading and interpreting cases during their preparation program courses. Hammerness and Darling-Hammond (2002) conducted content analyses of twenty-one curriculum cases written by preservice teachers. The researchers found after multiple drafts of the same cases studentsø responses were more able to create multiple solutions and make connections between theory and practice. The analyses of the cases also indicated that the pre-service teachersøresponses became more sophisticated over time after multiple practices (Hammerness & Darling-Hammond, 2002).

Case Method as Performance Assessments

The research has illustrated that case method instruction is an effective instructional tool for preparing future teachers (Boyle & Danforth, 2001). Case studies are also used to examine the current performance of pre-service teachers. Case method used as a performance assessment examines pre-service teachersøthinking and action in situations that are experienced-based and problem-oriented (Darling-Hammond & Snyder, 2000). Participation in these assessments has been found to support learning both for teachers who are being evaluated, and for university faculty members who are trained to serve as evaluators (Darling-Hammond & Snyder, 2000). Although the research is very limited, when pre-service teachers are assessed by case method, it helps them to link content knowledge to practical application (Harrington, 1995; Hammerness & Darling-Hammond, 2002).

Rationale for Case Method in Special Education

The literature on case method in teacher education mostly consists of descriptions of activities in teacher education programs and courses (Goeke, 2008; Lengyel & Vernon-Dotson, 2010). There is limited research on its effectiveness, and so at this point it lacks an empirical foundation in supporting its use as an instructional tool and performance assessment (Goeke, 2008). Previous literature about the use of case method instruction consists mainly of anecdotal reports, argument papers, or qualitative reports about the benefits of the method (Kim, Utke, & Hupp, 2005). However, case method instruction has great potential in teacher education and can afford desirable outcomes for pre-service special educators. The method provides safe environments for pre-service teachers to explore and apply ideas and solutions under the guidance of experienced instructors (Lengyel & Vernon-Dotson, 2010). For future educators in the field of special education, case method instruction could be particularly beneficial because it

would allow pre-service teachers the opportunity to apply knowledge in a variety of contexts with the full range of students. According to a survey by Elksnin (1998), more than 78% of respondents in special education teacher training have used cases in their teaching. The cases are a great resource for educating pre-service special educators about teaching students with disabilities. Case studies can promote the development of knowledge, problem solving, and decision-making skills in pre-service teachers (Snyder & McWilliams, 1999).

Special education professionals need to develop specialized skills (Council for Exceptional Children, n.d.) for teaching students with diverse needs such as implementing federal mandates, collaborating with others, creating and implementing individualized education programs, advocating for students and parental rights, and transitioning students from high school to postschool settings. Case studies can help future special education teachers use the same tools as novice or veteran special education teachers to discover the profession and problem-solve for certain outcomes (Lengyel & Vernon-Dotson, 2010). Case methods are supported as a valuable and more meaningful method of allowing individuals to construct teaching knowledge, rather than having it taught through traditional methods (Goeke, 2008). Effective teaching of students with disabilities requires a foundation of knowledge that is not an õautomatic consequenceö of special education teacher programs (Goeke, 2008).

Research on cases with multicultural content has suggested that cases can change teachersøthoughts about particular settings or groups by presenting vicarious practices (Noordhoff & Kleinfeld, 1991; Shulman & Colbert, 1987; Shulman & Mesa-Bains, 1992). In the same way, case methods may be a strategy through which educators can conceptualize and emphasize information about students with disabilities into teacher preparation programs (Goeke, 2008). Cases can be developed to describe individual studentøs learning and behavior

problems that can be different across educational settings. Essentially, specific special education content can be incorporated into the case to reveal many different issues.

Lengyel and Vernon-Dotson (2010) explored two examples of case method instruction in special education teacher preparation courses. The authors found that the use of the case study methods allowed teacher candidates to come face-to-face with the different challenges of educating students with disabilities. They also found that the students experienced the levels of Bloomøs taxonomy from recognizing their knowledge and comprehension skills in using problem-solving skills to develop possible solutions. By the end of the two examples, the preservice special education teachers were prepared to design data systems, collect data, employ data-based decision making processes, utilize evidence-based practices, and follow the appropriate procedure mandated by special education laws. Table 3 summarizes the Bloomøs Taxonomy cognitive domains that involve knowledge and the development of skills.

Table 3

Bloom's Taxonomy

Category	Description
Knowledge	Recall data or information
Comprehension	Understand the meaning of instructions and problem
Application	Use a learned concept in a new situation
Analysis	Separate material or concepts into categories, so that it can be understood
Synthesis	Joins different parts together to form a whole
Evaluation	Make judgments about the value of idea or materials.
Ž	

Case method instruction is steadily increasing in the field of education, especially in the area of special education (Butera & Dunn, 2005; Kim, et al., 2005; Lengyel & Vernon-Dotson, 2010; Spencer, Freund, & Browne, 2006). Pre-service educators are motivated when they can make a connection to real life problems and issues by applying knowledge and creating solutions to rid the dilemmas presented. Case studies produce an active, iterative, and reflective approach to educating future special educators (Spence et al., 2006).

Summary

The movement from high school to postsecondary environments can be one of the most difficult transitions an individual experiences, especially a person with a disability (Kohler & Field, 2003). To help students with this special movement, legislation and models were created to help better prepare students with disabilities to participate in programs for academic, social, and vocational training (Halpern, 1992). Although efforts to prepare students with disabilities for postschool have been around for decades, it was not until 1990 that the term transition was defined in the legislation and transition planning was required by law. The definition included employment, vocational training, and independent living as viable postschool outcomes.

Currently, the No Child Left Behind Act (2001) and the reauthorization of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (2004) have improved the quality of education for students with disabilities. The services that are being provided are more academically focused and teachers are being held more accountable to implement evidence-based practices.

Evidence-based practices are researched-based practices that have been found to be effective for creating positive post school outcomes for students with disabilities (Landmark, et al., 2010). Currently NSTTAC (2010) has identified more than 33 evidence-based practices for preparing secondary students with disabilities. For the purpose of this paper, five evidence-

based practices were highlighted; self-determination, student participation, family involvement, interagency collaboration, and transition assessments. These five practices have been found to be critical components of effective transition programs and under direct control of the teacher.

The special educator helps students set goals and achieve academic success; therefore, the teacher must first believe that he or she is capable of assisting students. Bandura (1977) provided a framework that studied the construct of self-efficacy, which lead to the evolution and measurement of teacher efficacy. Teacher efficacy is demonstrated by having a positive attitude paired with effective instructional activities that will increase student achievement (Gibson & Dembo, 1984). Teacher efficacy is an important aspect to consider in the preparation of special education teachers. Research has shown that teachers with high teacher self-efficacy demonstrate the following; (a) higher academic achievement, (b) greater effective teacher practices, (c) increased family involvement, and (d) higher levels of commitment to the field (Gibson & Dembo, 1984; Hoy & Woolfolk, 1993; Podell & Soodak, 1993). When pre-service special educators leave their preparation programs with high teacher efficacy, they will more likely demonstrate competence in transitioning students into postsecondary settings.

To ensure that special educators are competent in these areas, preparation programs have to better prepare secondary special education teachers. The roles and responsibilities of secondary special educators have expanded, requiring them to take on more job duties. Many secondary special educators lack the key content to perform their expanded job requirements (deFur & Tayman, 1995). Special education teacher preparation programs for the most part do not provide pre-service special educators with information and practical experiences to ensure competency in the area of transition. Most programs only offer one class and students are left with many questions on how to help students transition from one setting to the next.

In the effort to better prepare secondary special education teachers, case study method instruction has been suggested (Lengyel & Dotson, 2010). Case method instruction is a viable method that can help future educators bridge the gap between theory and practice (Darling-Harmond, 2006). It also helps students increase their performance skills of reflection and problem solving. Although the strategy is fairly new, case method instruction is necessary in the preparation of educators (Lengyel & Dotson). In the field of special education, case method used as a performance assessment provides a series of information that assists the future special educator with making judgments and higher order of thinking (Lengyel & Dotson). It also provides teacher educators with information on how to improve program planning. This allows pre-service educators to demonstrate confidence when educating students with disabilities.

Secondary special education teacher programs must include courses and methods that include the application of studentsøknowledge and skills. These methods are necessary for the development of effective transition programs and provide opportunities for pre-service teachers to apply these skills in real life scenarios through methods such as case teaching and life practical experiences.

CHAPTER III. METHODOLOGY

Pre-service secondary special education teachers are being prepared to teach secondaryage students with disabilities every year. These pre- service teachers leave their preparation
programs with high self-efficacy levels to educate students with disabilities during their
transition process (Brownell & Pajares, 1999). Goddard, Hoy, and Woolfolk-Hoy (2004) noted
there is a difference between perception of competence and actual performance in regards to
educating students with disabilities. Researchers have found that case study methodology is an
effective method to assess pre-service teachersøapplication and problem-solving skills (Doebler,
Roberson, & Ponder, 1998). This study examined pre-service secondary special education
teachersøefficacy levels and performance on a secondary studentøs transition plan process case
study.

This chapter outlines the methodology used to conduct this study. First, a description of the participants and setting will be discussed. Next, a description is given of the instruments and scoring procedures used. Also presented in this chapter are a list of research questions and the procedures used to answer the research questions.

Methods

Participants and Setting

Pre-service teachers enrolled in a teacher training program from a medium/large public university in the southeast that offers a baccalaureate and a master degree in either Collaborative Teacher (Kó12) or Collaborative Teaching (6ó12) were included in the study. The

Education Department. The pre-service teachers were recruited through both undergraduate and graduate practica and internship courses at the university. The criteria for participation in the study included being in their (a) next to last practicum, (b) last practicum, or (c) internship. In addition, the participants had to have completed Curriculum in Secondary Special Education or Program Implementation in Special Education and Transition from School to Community, and be currently working towards initial Collaborative Teacher Kó12 certification.

Instrumentation

Three types of data collection instruments (see Appendix 1 for each instrument) were used. The first was a demographic questionnaire containing questions regarding characteristics of the participants. The second was a scale to measure the participantsøperception of their teaching efficacy, which is titled *Teacher Efficacy for Secondary Student with Disabilities* (TESSD). The third instrument was the *Evidence-Based Practices Case Study Response Questionnaire* (EBPCSRQ). A rubric entitled *Evaluation Rubric for Evidence-Based Practices Written Analysis of Case Study* was used to score the case study.

Demographic questionnaire. The demographic questionnaire was developed by the primary investigator. The purpose of this questionnaire was to address variables that could potentially impact participantsøperception of their teacher efficacy. These variables included (a) age, (b) gender, (c) student classification, (d) race, and (e) practica or internship placement.

Teacher efficacy for secondary students with disabilities (TESSD). TESSD is an adaptation of a survey titled *Teacher Efficacy for the Inclusion of Young Children with Disabilities* (TEIYD) (Walls, 2007). To support construct validity of the TEIYD, Walls consulted with an expert panel consisting of three professionals with expertise in early childhood

special education, and one professional with expertise in statistics and teacher efficacy. The panel and Walls were careful to address task specificity which has been an issue in measuring teacher efficacy. The TEIYD instrument included 22 items. The 22 items were categorized into four areas that were designed to assess teacher efficacy: (a) knowledge and procedures related to special education (6 items), (b) knowledge of young children with disabilities (5 items), (c) teacher confidence with young children with disabilities (7 items), and (d) perceptions of abilities to implement teaching strategies (4 items). Cronbach& coefficient alphas of these subscales were .92, .96, .94, and .93, respectively. The TEIYD demonstrated acceptable psychometric properties with item analysis exceeding the minimal limit of .70 (Nunnally, 1978; Walls, 2007).

For this study, the TESSD was modified to address teacher efficacy for special education teachers teaching secondary-age students with disabilities. When modifying the TESSD, the primary investigator consulted with an expert panel of three professionals. Two professionals had expertise in transition planning and implementing effective practices in secondary special education in pre-service teacher training programs. One professional had expertise in statistics and teacher efficacy. When adapting the TEIYD content to reflect secondary students with disabilities, the phrase õyoung children with disabilitiesö was removed and replaced with õsecondary students with disabilities.ö Also, thirteen statements were adapted to reflect the transition planning process and the teacherøs implementation of secondary level courses instead of early childhood instructional processes. These statements were added to determine preservice teachersøconfidence level in the areas of providing accommodations, assisting with vocational and career development, teaching functional skills, and working with community agencies. A total of 3 statements were added to the TESSD survey. Two statements were added to the teaching confidence at the secondary level category; and one statement was added to the

perception of abilities to implement collaborative efforts category. These adaptations allowed the survey to focus on the primary needs of secondary students who are going through the transition planning process.

The modified TESSD instrument that was used in this study included 25 items designed to assess efficacy beliefs in four areas: (a) knowledge and procedures related to special education (6 items), (b) knowledge of students with disabilities (5 items), (c) teaching confidence at the secondary level (9 items), and (d) perceptions of abilities to implement collaborative efforts (5 items). A five-point Likert-type scale was used to measure participantsøconfidence rating with anchors 5 = very confident, 4 = confident, 3 = moderate confidence, 2 = little confidence, and 1 = no confidence. The participantsøoverall scores could range from 25 to 125. Table 4 compares the TEIYD and TESSD survey items.

Table 4

TEIYD and TESSD Survey Items

The Teacher Efficacy for the Inclusion of Young	The Teacher Efficacy for Secondary Students with
Children with Disabilities (TEYID)	Disabilities (TESSD)
Knowledge and procedures related to special	Knowledge and procedures related to special
education (6 items)	education (6 items)
Knowledge of young children with disabilities (5	Knowledge of students with disabilities
items)	(5 items)
Teacher confidence with young children with	Teaching confidence at the secondary level
disabilities (7 items)	(9 items)
Perceptions of abilities to implement teaching	Perceptions of abilities to implement collaborative
strategies (4 items)	efforts (5 items)

Evidence-based practices case study and evidence-based practices response questionnaire. The principle investigator performed an extensive review of literature concerning the use of case study methodology and how it is used to examine the current knowledge and skills of special education pre-service teachers (Ainsworth & Viegut, 2006). Research has shown that case studies are commonly used to link theory with practice (Harrington & Garrison, 1992) and to assess pre-service teachersøapplication and problem-solving skills (Aisnworth & Viegut, 2006). The principle investigator created a case study for the purpose of this study. This case study was titled *Evidence-Based Practices Case Study* (EBPCS); it described the transition planning process of a secondary-age student with a disability. Self-determination, family involvement, student participation, transition assessments, and interagency collaboration were the practices that were used to create the case. The case was created to contain important transition planning information for each of these areas. Research has shown that these practices increase positive student outcomes during the transition planning process (Kohler & Field, 2003).

The case included four issues per evidence-based practice (see Appendix 1 for issues for each practice). The case also included (a) pertinent information about the student, (b) terminology that is relevant to the specified evidence-based practices, (c) characteristics of the evidence-based practices, and (d) information that will support a solution to the problem. The case was followed by a response form.

The researcher created the response form in a similar fashion. The researcher consulted books that included case studies and possible questions that described issues related to secondary-age students with disabilities. The case study books provided examples of scenarios and questions that could be used to illustrate the dilemmas that students go through during the

transition planning process. After completing the research, the principle investigator created the *Evidence-Based Practices Response Questionnaire* (EBPRQ). It is a one paragraph statement that was designed to demonstrate the participantsøknowledge and application skills in the five evidence-based practices: self-determination, family involvement, transition assessments, student participation, and interagency collaboration. The EBPRQ required the students to construct a response that included the identification of the four issues related to each evidence-based practice. The EBPRQ form included an open-ended question that focused on (1) providing an analysis of the case study, (2) identifying the strengths and weakness, and (3) providing a resolution to the issues discussed in the case. The open-ended question used in the study required demonstration of knowledge, skills, application, and problem-solving skills (Ainsworth & Viegut, 2006).

Development and field testing of evidence-based practices case study and evidence-based practices response questionnaire. The EBPCS and EBPRQ were field tested to ensure the content (e.g., identification of the evidence-based practices) and the process (e.g., clarity of directions) of the instruments were sufficient to actually measure the studentsøresponses. The content of the case study was piloted with three masterøs-level secondary special education teachers. The principle investigator administered a copy of the case study and questionnaire, checklist of issues, and content survey. The masterøs-level secondary special education teachers were instructed to read the case and locate the identified evidence-based practices and issues from the checklist while responding to the questionnaire. The content of the case study included characteristics of each evidence-based practice: self-determination, parental involvement, transition assessments, student participation, and interagency collaboration. Once the surveys were completed, the students were to rate the content of the case with the Case Study Content

Review Survey (CSCRS) (see Appendix 1). The principle investigator created the CSCRS to measure the identification of each evidence-based practice and its issues. The survey allowed participants to record a start and finish time. A comment section was also provided to make comments about the content of the case study and the response questionnaire. The responses of the CSCRS were on a 3-point scale that indicated 3 = clearly reflected, 2 = partially reflected, and 1 = not reflected.

The average time it took for the participants to read the case study and respond to the questionnaire was 33 minutes. The participantsøratings ranged from clearly reflected to partially reflected (M = 2.73) for their overall rating of the evidence-based practices and issues identified in the case study. The mean ratings for the evidence-based practice ratings were as followed: self-determination (M = 3.00), parental involvement (M = 3.00), transition assessments (M = 2.67), student participation (M = 2.67) and interagency collaboration (M = 2.67). The principle investigator also reviewed and categorized the participantsøcomments. The trend of the comments included: (a) the lack of studentøs strengths/positives included in the case study, (b) each evidence-based practice was identified, (c) the evidence-based practice interagency collaboration was not detailed enough, (d) the case study was very clear and descriptive, (e) the response questionnaire was clear, and (f) the description of the student and overall concerns were evident. The participantsøcomments suggested that the overall case study could be longer in length to provide more detailed information about the student and the evidence-based practices.

The process of the case study was piloted with 16 undergraduate level pre-service teachers. They were administered the case study, response questionnaire, and a Likert-type scale, entitled *Case Study Review Survey (CSRS)* (see Appendix 1). The survey was created to survey the following aspects of the administration of case study and response questionnaire: (a)

the case study response questionnaire statement for directions were clear, (b) the scenario described in the case study was clear, (c) the length of the case study was reasonable, (d) the case study was easy to comprehend, and (f) all five evidence-based practices were clearly identified in the case study. The survey included a place for participants to record a start and finish time. The principle investigator also provided a section to make comments regarding the process of the instrument. The responses were on a 5-point scale that included the anchors: 5 = strongly agree, 4 = agree, 3 = neutral, 2 = somewhat agree, and 1 = disagree.

The average time it took for participants to read the case study was 6 minutes. The results also indicated that participantsøratings ranged from strongly agree to agree. The mean ratings for the CSRS were: (a) the response questionnaire was clear (M = 4.87), (b) the scenario described in the case was clear (4.73), (c) the length of the case was reasonable (M = 4.87), and (d) all five-evidence-based practices were identified (M = 4.60). The principle investigator also reviewed each comment and categorized the comments. The comments were similar to areas that were rated. In general, comments indicated: (a) the case study was easy to read and comprehend, (b) all five evidence-based practices were identified, (c) the response questionnaire was clear, and (d) the case study was sufficiently descriptive and detailed. The participants did have a common theme of one concern. The evidence-based practice, interagency collaboration, lacked or needed more detail.

Based on the results of the pilot testing of the *Case Study Content Review Survey* and the *Case Study Review Survey* the principle investigator modified the content of the case study. The principle investigator added information about the student¢s personal dislikes and likes as well as the student¢s academic and behavioral strengths and weaknesses. The evidence-based practice of interagency collaboration lacked detail. Additional information was added to illustrate the

relationship between the vocational rehabilitation counselor and school. The suggested modifications made the case study longer in length, creating a clearer description of the student and her challenges going through the transition planning process.

Evidence-based practices written analyses rubric. A rubric was used to score the participantsøresponses used in the case study. The principle investigator adapted a rubric used in the Department to grade coursework and practica assignments. The rubric evaluated the participantsøresponses in four different areas: (a) evidence-based practice identification, (b) analysis of issues, (c) plan of action, and (d) evaluation of plan of action. The four evaluation component categories were rated using the following scale: 4 = exceeds expectation, 3 = meets expectations, 2 = partially meets expectation and 1 = does not meet expectation. For each evidence-based practice, there were 4 issues that were described in the case study. As stated earlier, a checklist was created to identify the issues per evidence-based practice. The participants were required to create a plan of action that identified all five evidence-based practices and issues that were related to the practice. The participantsøtotal score could range from 4 to 16. The principle investigator expected participants to score at least in the of of the rubric.

Evidence-based practices written analyses rubric training and inter-rater reliability.

Results from the case study written response questionnaire were evaluated by the principle investigator and an assistant professor in Special Education with an emphasis in transition. The principle investigator trained the assistant professor on how to score each case study response.

Each evidence-based practice had four issues that were discussed in the case study. The two raters were each given a copy of 10 of the same case studies and a copy of the checklist of issues for each evidence-based practice. The principle investigator also discussed how each response

rated against the *Evidence-Based Practices Written Analyses Rubric* (EBPWAR). Once the transition specialist was trained on how to identify the issues and rate each response, the principle investigator and transition specialist scored ten of the same responses. The first response that was scored by the raters was rated 11(principle investigator) and 12 (transition specialist). The raters discussed their differences in how many recommendations are needed for each evidence-based practice. The discussion led to the revision of the first response. The raters agreed that the score should be 11. Next, the raters independently rated nine more studentsø responses. After they were rated, scores were compared. There was 100% agreement on the nine responses. The principle investigator and assistant professor rated 20 responses independently.

Procedures

Institutional review board. The principle investigator submitted a formal request to the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Auburn University (AU) to complete research involving AU students. The request was approved. Once the principle investigator received clearance from the IRB committee, a packet was created to administer to potential participants. Participation was voluntary and the principle investigator provided an informational letter explaining the risks to participating, rights, and contact information in case of questions or concerns regarding the study.

Recruitment of participants. To recruit participants for the study, the principle investigator created a flyer (see Appendix 3) that outlined the participantsørequirements. The flyer included the following requirements for participation in the study: age, current semester, and program of study. The principle investigator attended weekly practica and internship meetings to recruit potential participants and passed out the flyer and explained to the pratica and

internship students the importance of the study. The flyer was emailed to distance education students as well. It was emphasized that participation was voluntary and it would not interfere with the relationship between the principle investigator and participants. The principle investigator returned the week following her visit to practica and intern meeting to administer the instruments to willing participants.

Administering of instruments. The principle investigator returned and explained the study in more detail to the participants that remained after last practicum and final internship meetings. An informational letter was administered (see Appendix 2). The questionnaire, survey, and case study with response questions were distributed by the principle investigator in the form of a packet completed by undergraduate and graduate level pre-service teachers enrolled or previously enrolled in a practica and/or internship courses. All questionnaires, surveys, and cases were numbered. Participants were not allowed to provide any identifying information outside the questions from the demographic questionnaire.

The pre-service educators who agreed to participate filled out all documents in the classroom after practica or internship classes. Participants were instructed to complete the inventories in the order in which they appeared in the packet. The principle investigator left the room after asking individuals to volunteer to complete the questionnaire, survey, and case studies with response questions provided in the packet. Once the participants completed the packet, the packet was placed into a bin. Participants could choose to complete the packet or not. No time limit was assigned to complete the questionnaire. Half of the participants received a packet in the following order: (1) demographic questionnaire, (2) TESSD scale, and (3) evidence-based practice case studies with response questions. The second half of participants received a packet in the following order: (1) demographic questionnaire, (2) evidence-based practice case studies

with response questions, and (3) TESSD scale. This was done to control for participant fatigue or order effects. All participants, whether they completed a packet or not, sealed the survey and response forms and placed them in a bin provided by the principle investigator. The principle investigator returned after the last participant left the class and collected the 30 completed and 5 uncompleted packets.

Research Questions

The following research questions and corresponding null hypothesis were examined in this study:

- 1. What proportion of students rated themselves as õconfidentö or õvery confidentö on the *Teacher Efficacy for Secondary Student with Disabilities* survey?
- 2. To what extent was there a difference between scores on the teacher efficacy scale (TESSD) for students at the undergraduate level and those at the graduate level?
 - Ho1: There was no statistically significant difference between scores on the teacher efficacy scale (TESSD) for student at the undergraduate level and those at graduate level.
- 3. To what extent was there a difference between scores on the teacher efficacy scale (TESSD) for students at the practicum level and those at the internship level?
 - Ho2: There was no statistically significant difference between scores on the teacher efficacy scale (TESSD) for student at the practicum level and those at internship level.
- 4. What proportion of studentsøresponses õmetö or õexceededö expectations on the rubric for the written response to *the Evidence-Based Practice Case Study*?
- 5. To what extent was there a difference between scores on the rubrics for evidencebase practices for students at the undergraduate level and those at the graduate level?

Ho3: There was no statistically significant difference between scores on the rubrics for evidence-based practices for students at the undergraduate level and those at the graduate level.

6. To what extent was there a difference between scores on the rubrics for evidence-based practices for students at the practicum level and those at the internship level?

Ho4: There was no statistically significant difference between scores on the rubrics for evidence-based practices for students at the practicum level and those at the internship level.

7. To what extent was there a relationship between teacher efficacy scores (TESSD) and scores on the rubrics for evidence-based practices for students in special education teacher preparation programs?

Ho5: There was no statistically significant relationship between teacher efficacy scores (TESSD) and scores on the rubrics for evidence-based practices for students in special education teacher preparation programs.

Data Analysis

Several different statistics were used to analyze data in this study. Descriptive statistics were used to summarize demographic information on participants. Two one-sample t tests were conducted to evaluate the scores of the TESSD Survey and rubric. Independent samples t tests were conducted to examine the mean differences in teacher efficacy (TESSD scores) and the mean differences in evidence-based practices rubric scores for students at the undergraduate and graduate levels. Independent samples t tests were also conducted to examine the mean differences in teacher efficacy scores and evidenced-based practice rubric scores for students at the practicum and internship levels. To determine the relationship between the scores on the

TESSD and rubrics based on the evidence-based practice case study, data were analyzed by Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficient.

CHAPTER IV. RESULTS

This study investigated secondary special education pre-service teachersøself-efficacy and knowledge and skills towards educating secondary-age students with disabilities. More specifically, the researcher wanted to determine pre-service teachersøefficacy in regards to educating secondary-age students going through the transition planning process. A second purpose was to examine pre-service secondary special education teachersøperformance on a case study related to evidence-based practices and transition-related issues. The primary investigator conducted analyses for seven research questions and participant demographics. The results of the participant demographics and seven research questions are presented in this chapter.

Demographic data collected on 30 participants included: (a) student classification (n = 23, 76.7% undergraduates; n = 7, 23.3% graduates), (b) age ranges 20622 (n = 18, 60%), 236 25(n = 6, 20%), and 26 and older (n = 6, 20%), (c) gender (n = 3, 10% males; n = 27, 90% females), race (n = 3, 10% African Americans; n = 2, 6.67% Native American; n = 25, 83.3% White), and practicum/internship placement (n = 11, 36.7% 2nd practicum; n = 5, 16.6% 3rd practicum; n = 14, 46.7% internship). Table 5 presents the demographic information on the participants. In addition, data were collected on graduate studentsøundergraduate degree majors, type of certification, and whether the students were on-campus or distance education learners. The undergraduates represented 76.67% of the participants and 23.33% of participants were graduate students. The graduate studentsøeducational background included psychology, elementary education, business, and special education. Students who have non-educational

undergraduate degrees were pursuing special education certification through an alternative route. The composition of the participants in this study is comparable to demographic statistic from the United States Department of Education on public school teachers (2010). Participant demographic information is displayed in Table 5.

Table 5

Participant Demographic Information

	n	Percent
Student Classification		
Undergraduate	23	76.7
Graduate	7	23.3
Age Ranges		
20622	18	60.0
23625	6	20.0
>26	6	20.0
Gender		
Male	3	10.0
Female	27	90.0
Race		
African American	3	10.0
Native American	2	6.67
White	25	83.3
Semester		
2 nd Practicum	11	36.7
3 rd Practicum	5	16.6

Research has shown that 12% to 15% of all new special education teachers are prepared through alternative certification programs (Wasburn-Moses & Rosenberg, 2008). The ages of the participants of this study range from 20 to 57. The participants that fell between the ages of 20622 represented 60% of the participants. The majority of the participants were females (90%). The race/ethnicity for the participants of this study was African American, White, and Native American. The White participants represented over 80% of the individuals surveyed. The United States Department of Education (2010) indicates that about 73% of special education teachers who teach at the secondary level are females, 48% are under the age of 25, and over 80% of teachers are White (2010).

Research Question Results

Research Question 1

Research question 1 asked: What proportion of students rated themselves as \tilde{o} confidentö or \tilde{o} very confidentö on the *Teacher Efficacy for Secondary Student with Disabilities* survey? A one-sample t test was conducted on the scores of the *Teacher Efficacy for Secondary Student with Disabilities* survey to evaluate whether the studentsø mean was significantly different from the test value 100. A test value of 100 was used because the students would have to score at least in the \tilde{o} confidentö range or above on the TESSD survey. The sample mean (M = 100, SD = 11.9) was not significantly different from t_0 , t_0 ,

Table 6

TESSD Survey Questions Frequency

Survey Question	Very	Confident	Moderate	Little
	Confident		Confidence	Confidence
	n	n	n	n
Law and regulations	3	14	11	2
Student eligibility	2	19	7	2
IEP	11	16	2	1
My role in the IEP	14	14	2	0
Transition requirements	7	18	4	1
Teacher effort	18	11	1	0
Define disabilities	5	20	5	0
Manifestations of disabilities	6	12	11	1
School difficulty	11	17	2	0
Understanding needs	9	21	0	0
Studentøs disability affect transition	13	13	3	1
Exposure to secondary content areas	3	16	9	2
Teach basic skills	7	17	5	1
Implement learning strategies	6	15	8	1
Modify and accommodate	9	11	9	1
Vocational training	6	13	7	4
Studentøs role in transition process	5	15	8	2
Manage studentsøbehavior	5	19	2	4
Teach functional skills	7	16	7	0

(table continues)

Table 6 (continued)

Survey Question	Very Confident		Moderate	Little
	Confident		Confidence	Confidence
	n	n	n	n
Implement co-teaching	6	16	7	1
Work with general education	14	12	4	0
Work with special education	14	12	4	0
administrators				
Work with community agencies	6	14	6	4
Work with parents	12	15	2	1
Work with other professionals	10	17	2	1

Research question 2 asked: To what extent was there a difference between scores on the teacher efficacy scale (TESSD) for students at the undergraduate level and those at the graduate level? An independent sample t-test was conducted to compare the level of efficacy for undergraduate and graduate level pre-service teachers in special education teacher preparation programs. There was not a statistically significant difference in the self-reported level of efficacy t(28) = -.075, p = .155 on the TESSD survey for undergraduate (M = 100, SD = 12.9) and the self-reported level of efficacy for graduate students (M = 101, SD = 7.76) in a special education teacher preparation program. The results showed no differences in the total scores on the teacher efficacy scale between the two groups in how confident they felt about teaching students with disabilities at the secondary level. Table 7 shows the mean scores and standard deviations for undergraduate and graduate pre-service special education teachers.

Table 7

Mean Scores and Standard Deviations of Teacher Efficacy

	N	Mean	Standard Deviation
Undergraduate	23	100	12.9
Graduate	7	101	7.76

Research Question 3 asked: To what extent was there a difference between scores on the teacher efficacy scale (TESSD) for students at the practicum level and those at the internship level? An independent sample t-test was implemented to compare the level of efficacy for preservice teachers at the practicum and internship level. There was not a statistically significant difference in the self-reported level of efficacy at the .05 level t(28) = 1.79, p = .084 on the TESSD survey for practicum level students (M = 96.0, SD = 10.8) and the self-reported level of efficacy for internship level students (M = 104, SD = 10.6) in a special education teacher preparation program. However, it is noteworthy that the probability of difference between students at the practicum level and those in internships was statistically significant at the .08 level, indicating that such difference would occur eight or fewer times out of 100 by chance. The results indicated that regardless of the studentsønumber of formal field experiences, the total scores on the teacher efficacy scale were about the same. Table 8 shows the mean and standard deviations for practicum and internship level pre-service special education teachersøefficacy scores.

Table 8

Mean Scores and Standard Deviations of Teacher Efficacy Scores

	N	Mean	Standard Deviations
Practicum	16	96.0	12.4
Internship	14	104	11.5

Research question 4 asked: What proportion of studentsøresponses õmetö or õexceededö expectations on the rubric for the written response to *the Evidence-Based Practice Case Study*? A one-sample t test was conducted on the scores from *Evidence-Based Practice Rubric* to evaluate whether the sample mean was significantly different from the test value 12. The test value of 12 was used because it would have studentsømean rating be in the õmeet expectationsö range or above for their total score. The sample mean (M = 10.3, SD = 1.95) was significantly different from 12, t(29) = -4.573, p = < .001. The results indicated that the sample mean is below the test value. Table 9 shows each component of the *Evidence-Based Practice Rubric* and the percent of students who scored in the õmeetö or õexceed expectationsö range.

Table 9

Evidence-Based Practice Rubric Component Percentages

	n	Percent
Identification of Evidence-Based Practices		
Exceeds Expectation	11	36.7
Meets Expectation	18	60.0
Partially Meets Expectations	1	3.34
Does Not Meet Expectations	0	0
Analysis of Issues		
Exceeds Expectation	3	10.0
Meets Expectation	16	53.3
Partially Meets Expectations	10	33.3
Does Not Meet Expectations	1	3.34
Plan of Action		
Exceeds Expectation	1	3.34
Meets Expectation	12	40.0
Partially Meets Expectations	10	33.3
Does Not Meet Expectations	7	23.3
Evaluation of Plan of Action		
Exceeds Expectation	1	3.34
Meets Expectation	4	13.3
Partially Meets Expectations	18	60.0
Does Not Meet Expectations	7	23.3

Research question 5 asked: To what extent was there a difference between scores on the rubrics for evidence-base practices for students at the undergraduate level and those at the graduate level? An independent sample t-test was conducted to compare rubric scores from the *Evidence-Based Practice Response Questionnaire* for undergraduate and graduate level preservice special education teachers. There was not a statistically significant difference in the rubric scores t(28) = -1.44, p = .431 for undergraduate level pre-service special education teachers (M = 10.1, SD = 1.99) and graduate level pre-service special education teachers (M = 11.2, SD = 1.60) in special education preparation programs. The results indicated that regardless of student classification, the scores from the rubric were about the same. Table 10 shows the mean scores and standard deviations of the undergraduate and graduate studentsørubric scores.

Table 10

Mean Scores and Standard Deviations of Undergraduate and Graduate's Rubric Scores

	N	Mean	Standard Deviation
Undergraduate	23	10.1	1.99
Graduate	7	11.2	1.60

Research Question 6

Research question 6 asked: To what extent was there a difference between scores on the rubrics for evidence-based practices for students at the practicum level and those at the internship level? An independent sample t-test was conducted to compare rubric scores from the *Evidence-Based Practice Response Questionnaire* for students and the practicum and internship level. There was not a statistically significant difference in the rubric scores t(28) = -.699, p = .214 for

practicum level pre-service special education teachers (M = 10.1, SD = 2.13) and internship level pre-service special education teachers (M = 10.5, SD = 1.16) in special education preparation programs. The results indicated that regardless of the studentsønumber of formal field experiences, the scores from the rubric were about the same. Table 11 shows the mean and standard deviations for practicum and internship level pre-service special education teachersø rubric scores.

Table 11

Mean Scores and Standard Deviations of Practicum and Internship Students' Rubric Scores

	N	Mean	Standard Deviations
Practicum	16	10.1	2.13
Internship	14	10.5	1.16

Research Question 7

Research question 7 asked: To what extent was there a relationship between teacher efficacy scores (TESSD survey) and scores on the rubric for evidence-based practices for students in special education teacher preparation programs? A Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient was calculated to assess the relationship between the scores on the TESSD survey and scores on the rubric for evidence-based practices. There was a negative correlation between the two scores. The correlation was not significant, r(28) = -.245, p = .192. Lower scores on the rubric tend to be associated with higher scores on the TESSD survey, and high scores on the rubric tend to be associated with lower scores on the TESSD survey, but the relationship was not significant.

CHAPTER V. DISCUSSION OF RESULTS, LIMITATIONS, FUTURE RESEARCH AND SUMMARY

Preparing secondary-age students with disabilities to transition from high school to postsecondary environments is one of the most important processes for teachers and students. Teacher preparation programs have courses and practical experiences to support the academic and behavioral needs of students with disabilities that go through the transition process.

Teachers with higher self-efficacy focus on the direct needs of their students (Darling-Hammond, Chung, & Frelow, 2002). Teacher efficacy is a very important goal of teacher preparation programs. Teacher efficacy has been found to be related to better instructional practices, higher student academic achievement, increased family involvement, and higher levels of job commitment (Allinder, 1994; Ashton & Web, 1986; Hoy & Woolfolk, 1993; Soodak & Podell, 1993). Higher teacher efficacy also allows teachers to step into challenging roles with the confidence and ability to change the student opinion about school and learning (Henson, 2001). Self-efficacy is especially important for secondary special education teachers who have so many roles and responsibilities.

The primary purpose of this study was to examine secondary special education preservice teachersøefficacy levels towards educating secondary-age students with disabilities. This was accomplished by examining scores from a teacher efficacy survey. A secondary purpose of this study was to examine pre-service secondary special education teachersøknowledge and skills towards educating secondary-age students with disabilities. Their knowledge and skills

were examined through a case study performance assessment developed by the principle investigator. Presented in this chapter are a discussion of the findings, limitations, future research, and implications.

Discussion of Results

Secondary Special Education Pre-Service Teachers' Efficacy

The results of the TESSD survey indicated that the pre-service secondary special education teachers felt oconfidento or overy confidento in educating secondary-age students with disabilities. This is an encouraging finding because research has shown that teacher efficacy has been positively correlated to students having higher academic achievement, effective teacher practices, increased family involvement, and higher levels of job commitment (Gibson & Dembo,. 1984; Hoy & Woolfolk, 1993; Podell & Soodak, 1993; Rosenholtz, Bassler, & Hoover-Dempsey, 1989; Ware & Kitsantis, 2007). Specifically, special education teachers with higher levels of efficacy are also more organized and more likely to engage in instructional planning with general education teachers (Allinder, 1994). These factors alone create better academic environments for instructing students with disabilities. Given the positive impact of teacher self-efficacy, it is necessary to identify other areas that may increase positive results in educating secondary-age students with disabilities (Caprara, Barbaranelli, Borgongni, & Steca, 2003).

Secondary Special Education Pre-Service Teachers' Performance Abilities

The mean rating for pre-service secondary special education teachers on the case study rubric was below the õmeet expectationsö range. The rubric components included identification of evidence-based practices, analysis of issues, plan of action, and evaluation of plan of action. An examination of the scores by components indicated that there was variability in scores across the four areas. For example, for identifying evidence-based practices component, over 36% of

the pre-service teachers õexceededö expectations and 60% õmetö expectations; moreover, 50% of the pre-service teachers õexceededö or õmetö expectations in analyzing the strengths and weaknesses related to the evidence-based practices. The majority of the students did not omeeto expectations for the plan of action and evaluation of plan of action components. This information suggested that the pre-service teachers are familiar with the definitions of evidencebased practice described in the case study and can identify positive and negative practices; however, they appear to have difficulty in creating a plan of action for the weaknesses discussed in the case study. A possible reason for the low overall scores is that the pre-service teachersø preparation program does not assess pre-service teachersøapplication and problem solving skills with case study methodology. Therefore the students might not be familiar with this type of activity. The pre-service teachers preparation program evaluates the students through field experiences and course assessments. The lack of experience with the use of case study methodology as a performance assessment tool was unfamiliar to the students. Therefore, their scores could be reflective of a lack of experience with this type of task rather than a lack of ability. For example, Doebler, Roberson, and Ponder (1998) found that the more practice preservice teachers have with providing written solutions from case studies, the more likely the response will be more sophisticated and rated higher.

Relationship between Efficacy and Performance

The results indicated that there was a very small insignificant negative correlation between the TESSD survey scores and scores on the rubrics for evidence-based practices for secondary special education pre-service teachers r(28) = -.245, p = .192. This is somewhat surprising. It was expected there would be a significant positive relationship between the TESSD and the case study rubric. That is, it was expected that pre-service teachers with high

efficacy would also have scores on rubric that at least ometo expectations. A possible explanation for the lack of a significant relationship between self-efficacy and the case study rubric score could be the lack of practice with case study methodology as previously discussed. Research has shown that case study analysis promotes critical reflection and more in-depth understanding of the educational needs of students (Alexandrowicz, 2001).

Differences between Undergraduate and Graduate Level Pre-Service Teachers

The results showed no statistically significant differences between students at the undergraduate level and those at the graduate level based on teacher efficacy scores (TESSD) t(28) = -0.075, p = 0.155, and scores on the rubrics for evidence-based practices, t(28) = -1.446, p = 0.431 for students in special education teacher preparation programs. This information suggests that regardless of student classification, pre-service teachers feel confident in educating students with disabilities at the secondary level. Although the data suggested that there were no differences between the undergraduate and graduate level pre-service teachers, undergraduate seniors in their internship placement had higher efficacy scores than graduate students. The undergraduate seniorsøefficacy scores ranged from 92 to 111 (M = 99.6); whereas, the graduate studentsøefficacy scores ranged from 81 to 103 (M = 92.5). A possible reason that the graduate studentsøscores are lower could be their non-educational backgrounds. The educational background of the graduate students who participated in the study included business, psychology, and general education.

There also was no statistically significant difference between students at the undergraduate level and those at the graduate level based on scores on the rubrics for evidence-based practices for students in special education teacher preparation programs. The graduate level studentsømean score (M = 11.2) was slightly higher than the undergraduates (M = 10.0).

Given that the undergraduate and graduate students have very similar programs, it is not surprising there was not a statistically significant difference. The evidence-based practices that were most likely to be identified were self-determination, student participation, parental involvement, and transition assessments. The evidence-based practices that had more detailed plans of actions were self-determination, parental involvement, and student participation.

Differences between Practicum and Internship Level Pre-Service Teachers

The results indicated that there is not a statistically significant difference between preservice teachers at the practicum level and those at the internship level based on teacher efficacy scores (TESSD) t(28) = -0.699, p = 0.214 and scores on the rubrics for evidence-based practices t(28) = -1.76, p = 0.933. One would expect the efficacy of interns, who have completed all coursework and three practica experiences, to be higher than practicum students. Although the mean for interns was slightly higher (M=104), the difference was not significant. Pre-service teachers at the internship level efficacy scoresøranged from 81 to 121. Whereas, the pre-service teachers at the practicum level efficacy scoresøranged from 83 to 119. It might be anticipated that interns would have a statistically significant higher scores because they are at the end of their program. Clift and Brady (2005) found that influences of courses and practical experiences through teacher preparation programs influence the development of pre-service efficacy levels. Both undergraduate and graduate level students reported high levels of efficacy. Perhaps this is the result of having completed two courses on secondary education and transition as a condition of participation in the study and at least one practicum.

The study also found that there is no statistically significant difference between students at the practicum level and those at the internship level based on scores on the rubrics for evidence-based practices for students in special education teacher preparation programs. The

rubric mean scores for pre-service teachers at the practicum level (M = 10.1) and pre-service teachers at the internship level (M = 10.5) were very close. Given that the undergraduate and graduate students are in an initial certification program, these results are unexpected because the students take many of the same courses.

Overall, pre-service teachers at the practicum level were rated in the \tilde{o} meets \tilde{o} expectation range (M=3.18) in identifying evidence-based practices. The evidence-based practices that were identified most frequently in both groupsøresponses were self-determination, parental involvement, student participation, and transition assessments. However, interagency collaboration was omitted in most responses. This information illustrated that their preparation program provided courses that taught key terminology and information about evidence-based practices for secondary-age students with disabilities. The pre-service teachers at the internship and practicum level were able to identify the evidence-based practices in the case study.

The undergraduate and graduate level pre-service teachersørubric scores ranged between õmeets expectationö and õpartially meets expectationö range in regards to creating a plan of action. The students were able to õpresent realistic and appropriate recommendationsö for three of the five evidence-based practices. Those evidence-based practices were self-determination, parental involvement, and student participation. Interagency collaboration and transition assessments were excluded in most student responses. Some student responses mentioned interagency collaboration, but there were no recommendations on how to improve the issue. Transition assessments were also mentioned but students provided incorrect solutions to the problem.

The results indicated that pre-service special education teachers in this study have a high level of self- efficacy related to educating secondary students with disabilities. This was true for

both undergraduate and graduate level students as well as practicum and internship students. Their overall scores on the rubric did not meet the õmeetö or õexceedö expectations level. However, an examination of scores by components and areas revealed that pre-service teachers could at least õmeet expectationsö when identifying evidence-based practices and analyzing issues in regards to the evidence-based practices. They had more difficulty with creating a plan of action. The low scores do not necessarily mean that students do not have the skills and ability to create responses that õpresent realistic and appropriate recommendations for three to four evidence-based practices;ö rather, it could be that students are unfamiliar or have not had practice with the use of case study methodology. In fact, case studies are used as tools to measure pre-service teachersøproblem solving and decision-making skills in many teacher training programs (Doyle, 1990). Research has shown that the more practice students have with providing solutions to cases, the more likely they will be rated higher and derive a better understanding of how to apply their knowledge (Doebler, Roberson, & Ponder, 1998).

Limitations

When interpreting the results of the study one must consider the limitations of the study.

One major limitation of the study is the small sample size. There were 30 participants in this study, which included 23 undergraduates and 7 graduate students. It is not appropriate to assume that a larger sample size would yield the same results as the participants in this study.

The time in the semester and the actual time of day assessments were administered could have influenced these results. The participants were provided with the instruments at the end of their practica or internship meetings at the end of the semester and close to graduation. This may have influenced the participantsøwritten response due to the time frame of the class. It appeared to the researcher that the pre-service teachers were in a hurry to complete their last assignments

and coursework of their program. The responses may not have been as clear and detailed due to the time in the semester.

The use of self-report measure is a potential limitation. The TESSD survey was a self-report measure. It depended on the ability and willingness of the participant to provide accurate and honest answers. Another possible limitation is the time it took to complete the case study and the actual tasks required on the case study. The time it took to complete the instruments may have affected the participation rate or responses of those who participated. Five students did not participate due to time constraints.

The familiarity of the case study methodology is another potential limitation. The participantsørequired courses provide minimal practice with case studies. The pre-service teachers were not familiar with reading case studies and creating solutions to the described issues. Some courses may include case studies but they are not as long and their written responses may not be required to be as detailed as the case involved in this study. The lack of experience with case studies, specifically creating a plan of action, may have caused the participants responses to be rated lower.

Participant familiarity with the primary investigator is another potential limitation. The primary investigator taught or supervised the majority of the participants. The relationship may have caused participants to provide socially acceptable answers which could be different from what they actually believe. Participants may have assumed that the study would affect their relationship with the primary investigator currently or in the near future.

Future Research

Presented in this section are recommendations for further research. The first recommendation is to continue to investigate teacher efficacy. More studies need to be

conducted that take a closer look at the areas that were rated in the õlittleö confidence and õnoö confidence range on the TESSD survey. It is very difficult to generalize the results of this study due to the sample size and single setting. Therefore, this type of research should be conducted in other universities around the state of Alabama, as well as, in other states with comparable special education teacher preparation programs. With additional research, the results of this study could be generalized.

The implementation of case study methodology into special education teacher preparation program coursework would benefit pre-service teachers. Case study methodology will give preservice teachers more practice with finding solutions and creating plan of actions. Darling-Hammond and Snyder (2000) found that case study provides students with the practice of linking content to practical application. This type of learning activity will give pre-service teachers possible solutions for future classroom issues and might increase their self-efficacy even more.

Further research could also be conducted on self-efficacy and other evaluation tools such as practicum/internship rating forms and classroom observations to examine the relationship between the studentsøperformance and ability level. It would be expected, if students rated themselves as having high self-efficacy, their performance scores on evaluation tools would be high as well. This type of information would provide teacher educators with the strengths and weaknesses of their students. It would also allow teacher education programs to develop courses and class discussions that will close the gap between studentsøefficacy and knowledge.

Finally, it also recommended that research be conducted on transition-related content for special and general education teachers. Surveys should also be created to determine practicing teachersøperceptions of the transition planning process. This would provide useful information for professional development and teacher preparation for special and general education teachers.

General education teachers are required to participate in the transition planning and IEP process but are unaware of their roles and responsibilities. This type of study would allow one to compare the knowledge and skills of general and special education teachers in regards to transitioning students with disabilities.

Summary

The roles and demands of the secondary special education teacher have shifted from providing school-based services to requiring effective collaboration with a variety of individuals to meet the unique needs of each student (deFur & Taymans, 1995; Morningstar, Kim, & Clark, 2008). Expanding roles and responsibilities of secondary special education teachers increase the need for secondary special education programs to adapt or refine their programs. A national survey revealed that less than half of the special education programs addressed transition-related content, and 45% of the programs only offered one course that is related to transition (Anderson et al., 2003). Although pre-service special education teachers are at least introduced to the transition basics, teachers are unprepared to effectively implement the transition planning process (Morningstar, Kim, & Clark, 2008).

The lack of preparation in transition-related content may decrease teacher efficacy. Research has shown that coursework and related topics taught in preparation programs impact overall teacher efficacy (Saklosfske, et al., 1988). Higher teacher efficacy has so many benefits for the teacher and the student. Job satisfaction, student achievement, effective collaborative efforts, and increased parental involvement are only a few of the reasons why teacher efficacy is important (Woolfolk & Hoy, 1990). To improve students with disabilitiesøpostschool outcomes, secondary special education teachers must feel confident. Teacher preparation programs must

help students develop that initial feeling of confidence through coursework and practical experiences.

This study investigated teacher efficacy and the performance level of pre-service special education teachers during their preparation program. The TESSD survey provided information on pre-service special education teachersøself-reported efficacy levels. The survey indicated that undergraduate and graduate level pre-service special education teachers feel at least oconfidento in educating secondary-age students with disabilities. The evidence-based practice rubric scores provided information about pre-service special education teachersøability to complete a case study that focused on transition. Overall, the pre-service teachers did not of expectations on their analysis of the case. While they were able to identify the evidence-based practices and issues in the case study, they were not able to create solutions that of expectations on their analysis of the case study served and performance on the case study, which was expected.

In sum, it is encouraging that the pre-service teachers in this study had high levels of self-efficacy because of the important role self-efficacy plays in promoting positive student outcomes. The use of case study methodology as a performance assessment needs to be considered in future research. In order to refine secondary teacher education training programs, we must continue to examine pre-service teachersøefficacy and their ability to identify evidence-based practices and problem solve real life teaching issues.

REFERENCES

- Allinder, R. M. (1994). The relationship between efficacy and the instructional practices of special education teachers and consultants. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 17(2), 86695.
- Anderson, D., Kleinhammer-Tramill, P. J., Morningstar, M. E., Lehmann, J., Bassett, D., Kohler,
 P., Blalock, G., & Wehmeyer, S. D. (2003). What's happening in personnel preparation in transition? A national survey. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 26, 1456-160.
- Argan, M., Cain, H. M., & Cavin, M. D. (2002). Enhancing the involvement of rehabilitation counselors in the transition process. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 25, 1416155.
- Armor, D., Conroy-Oseguera, P., Cox M., King, N., McDonnell, L., Pascal, A. Pauly, E., & Zellman, G. (1976). *Analysis of the school preferred reading programs in selected Los Angeles minority schools*. (REPORT NO. R-2007-LAUSD). Santa Monica, CA: Rand Corporation. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. 130 243).
- Ashton, P., & Webb, R. (1986). Making a difference: Teachers' sense of efficacy and student achievement. White Plains, NY: Longman.
- Asselin, S., Todd-Allen, M., & deFur, S. (1998). Transition coordinators: Define yourselves.

 *Teaching Exceptional Children, 30(3), 11615.

- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change.

 *Psychological Review 84, 1916215.
- Bandura, A. (1982). Self-efficacy mechanism in human agency. *American Psychologist*, *37*, 1226147.
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory.

 Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Bandura, A. (1993). Perceived self-efficacy in cognitive development and functioning. *Educational Psychologist*, 28(2), 1176148.
- Bandura, A. (1997). *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control*. New York: W. H. Freeman and Company.
- Bates, P., Suter, C., & Poelvoorde, R. (1986). *Illinois transition plan: Final report*. Chicago: Governor

 ß Planning Council on Development Disabilities.
- Bender, W. N., Vail, C. O., & Scott, K. (1995). Teachers' attitudes toward increased mainstreaming: Implementing effective instruction for students with learning disabilities.

 Journal of Learning Disabilities, 28(2), 876120
- Berman, P., McLaughlin, M., Bass, G., Pauly, E., & Zellman, G. (1977). Federal programs supporting educational change. Vol. VII. Factors affecting implementation and continuation (Report No. R-1589/7-HEW). Santa Monica, CA: The Rand Corporation. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. 140 432)
- Benitez, D. T., Morningstar, M. E., & Frey, B. B. (2009). A multistate survey of special education teacher perceptions of their transition competencies. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 32, 6616.

- Benz, M., Doren, B., & Yovanoff, P. (1998). Crossing the great divide: Predicting productive engagement for young women with disabilities. *Career Development for Exceptional Children*, 62, 3996413.
- Benz, M., & Halpern, A. (1993). Vocational and transition services needed and received by students with disabilities during their last year of high school. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 16, 1976211.
- Benz, M. R., Johnson, D. K., Mikkelsen, K. S., & Lindstrom, L. E. (1995). Barriers to school and VR collaboration. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 18(2), 1336156.
- Billingsley, B., Carlson, E., Klein, S. (2004). The working conditions and induction support of early career special educators. *Council for Exceptional Children*, 70(3), 3336347.
- Blackorby, J., & Wagner, M. (1996). Longitudinal post-school outcomes of youth with disabilities: Findings from the National Longitudinal Transition Study. *Exceptional Children*, 62, 399-414.
- Blalock, G., Bryant, C. A., Test, D. W., Kohler, P., White, W., Lehmann, J., Bassett, D., & Patton, D. (2003). The need for comprehensive personnel preparation in transition and career development and transition. *Career Development and Transition*, 26, 2076226.
- Block, K. K. (1996). The case method in modern educational psychology texts. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 12(5), 4836500.
- Boyle, J. R., & Danforth, S. (2001). *Cases in special education*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill Prentice Hall.
- Branstad, T., Acosta, A., Bartlett, S., Berdine, W., Butterfield, P. Chambers, J., et al. (2002). A new era: Revitalizing special education for children and their families. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.

- Bremer, C. D., Kachgal, M., & Schoeller, K. (2003). Self-determination: Supporting successful transition. *Research to Practice Brief*, 2(1), 1-6.
- Brolin, D. (1973). *Life centered career education: A competency-based approach* (4th ed.).

 Reston, VA: Council for Exceptional Children.
- Brophy, J., & Everston, C. (1976). *Learning from teaching: A developmental perspective*. Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Brownell, M., & Pajares, F. (1999). Teacher sense of efficacy and perceived success in mainstreaming students with learning and behavior problems. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 22(3), 154-164.
- Buell, M., Hallam, R., Gamel-McCormick, G., & Scheer, S. (1999). A survey of general and special education teachersøperceptions and inservice needs concerning inclusion.

 International Journal of Disability, Development and Education, 46(2), 1436156.
- Butera, G., & Dunn, M.W. (2005). The case for cases in preparing special educators for rural schools. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, 24(2), 22627.
- Cameto, R. (2005). The transition planning process. *A special topic report from the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 (NLTS2)*. Menlo Park, CA: SRI International
- Campbell, J. (1996). A comparison of teacher efficacy for pre and in-service teachers in Scotland and America. *Education*, 117(1), 2611.
- Clark, G.M.(1996). Transition planning assessment for secondary level students with learning disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 29(1), 79693.
- Clift, R.T., & Brady, P. (2005). Research on method courses and field experiences. In M. Cochran-Smith, & K.M., Zeichner (Eds.), *Studying teacher education: The report of the*

- AERA panel on research and teacher education (pp. 309-424). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Codding, R. S., Skowron, J., & Pace, G. M. (2005). Back to basics: training teachers to interpret curriculum-based measurement data and create observable and measurable objectives.

 Behavioral Interventions, 20(3), 1656176.
- Collet-Klingbenberg, L.L. (1998). The reality of best practices in transition: A case study. *Exceptional Children 65(1)*, 67678.
- Cook, B.G., Tankersley, M., Landrum, T.J. (2009). Determining evidence-based practices in special education. *Exceptional Children*, 75(3), 3656383.
- Conderman, G. J., & Katsiyannis, A. (2002). Instructional issues and practices in secondary special education. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 23, 1676179.
- Council for Exceptional Children. (2001). New study on special education working conditions. *CEC Today*, *8*, 186ó210.
- Council for Exceptional Children. (n.d.). Career profiles in special education: Teach children and youth with disabilities. Reston, VA: Author.
- Dabokowski, D.M. (2004). Encouraging active participation in IEP team meetings. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, *36*(3), 34639.
- Dardig, J. (1995). Iød been doing it wrong for so long it looked like right to me: Using case method to teach introduction to applied behavior analysis. *The Behavior Analyst*, 18, 1616166.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2003). Keeping good teachers: Why it matters what leaders can do. *Educational Leadership*, 60, 6613.

- Darling-Hammond, L. & Snyder, J. (2000). Authentic assessment of teaching in context.

 Teaching and Teacher Education, 16 (566), 5236545.
- Darling-Hammond, L., Hammerness, K., Grossman, P., Rust, F., & Shulman, L. (2005). The design of teacher education programs. In L. Darling-Hammond & J. Bransford (Eds.), *Preparing teachers for a changing world* (pp. 3906441). San Francisco: Jossey Bass.
- Deemer, S. A., & Minke, K. M. (1999). An investigation of the factor structure of the teacher efficacy scale. *The Journal of Educational Research*, *93*(1), 3610.
- deFur, S. H., & Taymans, J. M. (1995). Competencies needed for transition specialists in vocational rehabilitation, vocational education, and special education. *Exceptional Children*, 62, 38651.
- deFur, S. H., Todd-Allen, M., & Getzel, E. E. (2001). Parent participation in the transition planning process. *Career Development of Exceptional Individuals*, *24*(1), 19636.
- Deshler, D. D., Ellis, E. E., & Lenz, B. K. (1996). *Teaching adolescents with learning disabilities*. Denver, CO: Love Publishing Company.
- Devlieger, P. J., & Trach, J. S. (1999). Mediation as a transition process: The impact of post-school employment. *Exceptional Children*, 65(4), 5076523.
- Division on Career Development and Transition. (2000). *Transition specialist competencies*.

 Fact sheet. Reston, VA: Council for Exceptional Children.
- Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975, P.L. 94-142, 20 U.S.C., 1401 et seq.
- Elksnin, L.K. (2001). Implementing the case method of instruction in special education teacher preparation programs. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 24(2), 36647.

- Elksnin, L. K. (1998). Use of the case method instruction in special education teacher preparation programs: A preliminary investigation. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 21, 956108.
- Epstein, J. L. (1995). Perspectives and previews on research and policy for school, family, and community partnerships. In A. Booth & J. Dunn (Eds.), *Family-school links: How do they affect educational outcomes?* (p. 206ó246). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Everson, J. E., & Moon, M. S. (1990). Developing community program planning and service delivery teams. In F. R. Rusch (Ed.), *Supported employment: Models, methods, and issues* (pp. 3816394). Sycamore, IL: Sycamore.
- Fernstermacher, G.D. (1986). Philosophy of research on teaching: Three aspects. In M. C. Wittrock (Eds.), *Handbook of research on teaching* (3rd ed., pp. 37649). New York: Macmillan Publishing Company.
- Freytag, C. (2001). Teacher sense of efficacy and inclusion: The impact of pre-service experiences on beliefs. *ERIC Digest*, ED 451 180.
- Field, S., & Hoffman, A. (2002). Preparing youth to exercise self-determination: Quality indicators of school environments that promote the acquisition of knowledge, skills, and beliefs related to self-determination. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, 13(2), 136118.
- Field, S., Hoffman, A., & Fullerton, A. (2002). Supporting self-determination in the preparation of educators. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Council for Exceptional Children. New York.
- Field, S., Martin, J., Miller, R., Ward, M. & Wehmeyer, S.D. (1998). *A practical guide for teaching self-determination*. Reston, VA: Council for Exceptional Children.

- Flexer, R., Simmons, T., Luft, P., & Baer, R. (2001). *Transition planning for secondary students* with disabilities (1st ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill/Prentice Hall.
- Flexer, R., Simmons, T., Luft, P., & Baer, R. (2007). *Transition planning for secondary students* with disabilities (3rd ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill/Prentice Hall.
- Fuchs, L., Fuchs, D., & Bishop, N. (1992). *Teacher Characteristics Scale*. Annual Continuation Application for õPlanning, Reviewing and Ongoing Assessment Among Classroom Teachers,ö Grant No. 0023E90020 from the U.S. Department of Education, Office of Special Education Programs.
- Gersten, R., Keating, T., Yovanoff, P., & Harniss, M. K. (2001). Working in special education: Factors that enhance special educatorsøintent to stay. *Exceptional Children*, *67*, 5496567.
- Gibson, S., & Dembo, M. (1984). Teacher sense of efficacy: A construct validation. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 76(4), 5696582.
- Goeke, J. L. (2008). A preliminary investigation of prospective teachersøreasoning about case studies with expert commentary. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, *31*, 21635.
- Goodall, P. & Bruder, M. B. (1986). Parents and the transition process. *Exceptional Parent*, 16(2), 22628.
- Green, G., & Kochar-Bryant, C. (2003). *Pathways to successful transition for youth with disabilities*. Columbus, OH: Merrill Prentice-Hall.
- Greene, G., & Albright, L. (1995). õBest Practicesö in transition services: Do they exist? *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 18(2), 162.
- Gurman, E. B., Holliman, W. B., & Camperell, K. (1988). Oral application questions as a teaching strategy. *Teaching of Psychology*, *15*, 1496151.

- Guskey, T. R. (1988). Teacher efficacy, self-concept, and attitudes towards the implementation of instructional innovation. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 4(1), 63669.
- Halpern, A. (1994). The transition of youth with disabilities to adult life: A position statement of the Division on Career Development and Transition, the Council for Exceptional Children. Career Development for Exceptional Individuals, 17, 1156124.
- Halpern, A. S. (1985). Transition: A look at foundations. Exceptional Children, 51, 4796486.
- Halpern, A. S., Herr, C. M., Doren, B., & Wolf, N. K. (2000). NEXT S.T.E.P.: Student transition and educational planning. Austin, TX: PRO-ED.
- Hammerness, K., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2002). Meeting old challenges and new demands:

 The redesign of the Stanford Teacher Education Program. *Issues in Teacher Education*,

 11(1), 17630.
- Harrington, H. L. (1995). Fostering reasoned decisions: Case-based pedagogy and the professional development of teachers. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 11(3), 2036214.
- Harrington, H. L., & Garrison, J. W. (1992). Cases as shared inquiry: A dialogical model of teacher preparation. *American Educational Research Journal*, 29(4), 7156735.
- Hayes, B., Hindle, S., & Withington, P. (2007). Strategies for developing positive behavior management. Teacher behavior outcomes and attitudes to the change process. *Educational Psychology in Practice*, 23(2), 1616175.
- Henson, R. K. (2001). Teacher self- efficacy: Substantive implications and measurement dilemmas. Presented at the annual meeting of the Educational Research Exchange, Texas A & M University.
- Hitchcock, C., Meyer, A., Rose, D., & Jackson, R. (2002). Providing new access to the general curriculum. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, *35*(2), 8617.

- Hoy, W. K., & Woolfolk, A. E. (1993). Teachersøsense of efficacy and the organizational health of schools. *The Elementary School Journal*, *93*, 3566372.
- Individuals with Disabilities Education Act of 1990, 20 USC § 1400 et seq.
- Individuals with Disabilities Education Act Amendments of 1997, 20 USC § 1400 et seq. Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004, 20 USC § 1400 et seq.
- Kim, O., Utke, B. J., & Hupp, S. C. (2005). Comparing the use of case studies and application questions in preparing special education professionals. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 28(2), 1046113.
- Knott, L., & Asselin, S. B. (1999). Transition competencies: Perceptions of secondary special education teachers. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 22, 55665.
- Kochhar-Bryant, C. (2003). Building transition capacity through personnel development:

 Analysis of 35 state improvement grants. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 26(2), 1616184.
- Kohler, P. D. (1993). Best practices in transition: Substantiated or implied? *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 16, 1076121.
- Kohler, P. D. (1996). *A taxonomy for transition programming: Linking research and pract*ice. Champaign: University of Illinois, Transition Research Institute.
- Kohler, P.D. (1998). Implementing a transition perspective of education. In F. Rusch & J.Chadsey (Eds.). *Beyond high school: Transition from school to work* (pp. 1796205). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Publishing.
- Kohler, P. D., DeStefano, L., Wermuth, T. R., Grayson, T. E., & McGinty, S. (1994). An analysis of exemplary transition programs: How and why are they selected? *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 17(2), 1876202.

- Kohler, P. D., & Field, S. (2003). Transition-focused education: Foundation for the future. *The Journal of Special Education*, *37*(3), 1746183.
- Kohler, P. D., & Rusch, F. R. (1995). School to work transition: Identification of employment-related outcome and activity indicators. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 18(1), 33650.
- Kretlow, A. G., & Blatz, S. L. (2011). The ABCs of evidence-based practice for teachers. *Teaching Exceptional Children, 43*(5), 8619.
- Kortering, L., & Braziel, P. (2003). A look at the role of vocational special educators: Views of students with learning disabilities. *Journal of Vocational Special Needs*, *24*, 3615.
- Kuntz, S., & Hessle, A. (1998). *Bridging the gap between theory and practice: Fostering active learning through the case method.* Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the Association of American Colleges and Universities, Washington, DC.
- Landmark, L.J., Ju, S., Zhang, D. (2010). Substantiated best practices in transition: Fifteen plus years later. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, *33*, 1656176.
- Landmark, L. J., Zhang, D. D., & Montoya, L. (2007). Culturally diverse parentsøexperiences in their childrenøs transition: Knowledge and involvement. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 30(2), 68679.
- Lattin, D. L., Dove, S. M., Morningstar, M. E., Kleinhammer-Tramill, P. J., & Frey, B. (2004).

 *Transition professional development needs: Preliminary report of a multi-state survey.

 *Lawrence: University of Kansas, Transition Coalition.
- Lengyel, L, & Vernon-Dotson, L. (2010). Preparing special education teacher candidates:

 Extending case method to practice. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 33(3), 2486256.

- Li, Jen-Yi, Bassett, D. S., & Hutchinson, S. R. (2009). Secondary special educatorsøtransition involvement. *Journal of Intellectual & Developmental Disability*, *34*(2), 1636172.
- Luft, P. (2008). Examining educators of the deaf as õhighly qualifiedö teachers: Roles and responsibilities under IDEA and NCLB. *American Annals of the Deaf*, 152, 4296440.
- Lytle, R. K., & Bordin, J. (2001). Enhancing the IEP team: Strategies for parents and professionals. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, *33*(5), 40644.
- Manouchehri, A., & Enderson, M. C. (2003). The utility of case study methodology in mathematics teacher preparation. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 30, 1136135.
- Martin, D. S., Glatthorn, A., Winters, M., & Saif, P. (1989). *Curriculum leadership: Case studies for program practitioner*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Martin, J. E., & Marshall, L. H. (1996). *ChoiceMaker self-determination instructional package*.

 Longmont, CO: Sopris West.
- Martin, J. E., Marshall, L. H., Maxson, L., & Jerman, P. (1996). Self-directed IEP: Teacher's manual. Longmont, CO: Sopris West.
- McNair, J., & Rusch, E. R. (1991). Parent involvement in transition programs. *Mental Retardation*, 29, 936110.
- McWilliams, P. J. (1992). The case method of instruction: Teaching application and problem-solving skills to early interventionists. *Journal of Early Intervention*, *16*, 3606373.
- Midgley, C., Anderman, E., & Hicks, L. (1995). Differences between elementary middle school teachers and students: A goal theory approach. *Journal of Adolescence*, 15(1), 906113.

- Morningstar, M. E., & Clark, G. M. (2003). The status of personnel preparation for transition education and services: What is the critical content? How can it be offered? *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 26, 2276237.
- Morningstar, M. (1997). Critical issues in career development and employment preparation for adolescents with disabilities. *Remedial and Special Education*, *18*, 3076320.
- Morningstar, M. E., Frey, B. B., Noonan, P. M., Ng, J., Clavenna-Deane, B., Graves, Kellems, McCall, Z., & et al. (2010). A preliminary investigation of the relationship of transition preparation and self-determination for students with disabilities in post-secondary educational settings. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 33(2), 80694.
- Morningstar, M. E., & Kleinhammer-Tramill, P. J. (2005). Professional development for transition personnel: Current issues and strategies for success. *National Center on Secondary Education and Transition Information Brief, 4*(3), 165.
- Morningstar, M., Turnbull, A., & Turnbull, H. (1996). What do students with disabilities tell us about the importance of family involvement in the transition from school to adult life?

 Exceptional Children, 62, 2496260.
- Naring, H. L. (1990). Beginning teachersøperceptions of their proficiency in teaching skills. *ERIC Digest*. (ED 328 515)
- National Center on Secondary Education and Transition. (2004). *A national leadership summit*on improving results for youth: State priorities and needs for assistance. Minneapolis:

 University of Minnesota, Institute on Community Integration. Retrieved March 22, 2010,

 from http://www.ncset.org/summit03/findings.htm

- Newman, L. (2005). Family involvement in the educational development of youth with disabilities. A report from the National Longitudinal Transition Studyô 2 (NLTS2).

 Menlo Park, CA: SRI International
- No Child Left Behind Act of 2001, 20 U.S.C. § 6301 et seq. (2002)
- Noonan, P. M., Morningstar, M. E., & Erickson, A. M. (2008). Improving interagency collaboration: Effective strategies used by high-performing local districts and communities. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 31(3), 1326143.
- Noordhoff, K., & Kleinfeld, J. (1991). *Preparing teachers for multicultural classrooms: A case study in rural Alaska*. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Chicago, IL.
- Oertle, K.M. & Trach, J.S. (2007). Interagency collaboration: The importance of rehabilitation professionalsøinvolvement in transition. *Journal of Rehabilitation*, 73(3), 36644.
- Pajares, F. (1992). Teachersøbeliefs and educational research: Cleaning up a messy construct.

 *Review of Educational Research, 62, 3076332.
- Polloway, E., Patton, J., Smith, J., & Rodrique, T. (1991). Issues in program design for elementary students with mental retardation: Emphasis on curriculum development. *Education and Training in Mental Retardation*, 26, 1426250.
- Rehabilitation Act, Amendments of 1992. PL 102-569.
- Richardson, W. D., & Ginter, P. M. (1998). Using living cases to teach the strategic planning process. *Journal of Education for Business*, 73(5), 2696273.
- Rock, M. L. (2000). Parents as equal partners: Balancing the scales in the IEP development. *Teaching Exceptional Children, 32*(6), 30637.

- Rosenholtz, S. J. (1989). Workplace conditions that affect teacher quality and commitment:

 Implications for teacher induction programs. *Elementary School Journal*, 89(4), 421-439.
- Rusch, F.R., Kohler, P.D., & Hughes, C. (1992). An analysis of OSERS-sponsored secondary special education and transitional services. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 15, 1216143.
- Saklofske, D., Michaluk, B., & Randhawa, B. (1988). Teachersøefficacy and teaching behaviors.

 *Psychological Report, 63, 4076414.
- Salembier, G., & Furney, K. S. (1994). Promoting self-advocacy and family participation in transition planning. *Journal for Vocational Special Needs Education*, 17(1), 12617.
- Schrag, J., & Schrag, H. (1997). Status of annual dispute resolution effectiveness and impact measurement. Alexandria, VA: National Association of State Directors of Special Education. Madison, WI: Wisconsin Center for Education Research, University of Wisconsin.
- Severson, S. J., Hoover, J. H. & Wheeler, J.J. (1994). Transition: An integrated model for preand in-service training of special education teachers. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 17(2), 456158.
- Shealey, M. W., Mchatton, P. A., & Farmer, J. (2009). What does õhighly qualifiedö mean for urban special educators? *Urban Education*, *44*(4), 4106426.
- Shulman, J., & Colbert, J. (1988). *The mentor teacher casebook*. Eugene, OR: ERIC

 Clearinghouse on Educational Management, Educational Research, and Development.

 Washington, DC: ERIC Clearinghouse on Teacher Education.
- Shulman, J., & Mesa-Bains, A. (1992). *Teaching diverse students: Cases and commentaries*. San Francisco: Far West Laboratory for Educational Research and Development.

- Singh, K., & Billingsley, B. S. (1996). Intent to stay in teaching. *Remedial and Special Education*, 17, 37647.
- Sitlington, P. L., Neubert, D. A., & Leconte, P. J. (1997). Transition assessment: The position of the Division on Career Development and Transition. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 20(1), 69679.
- Snyder, P., & McWilliams, P.J. (1999). Evaluating the efficacy of case method instruction: Findings from pre-service training in family-centered care. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 22, 1146125.
- Söderström, S., & Ytterhus, B. (2010). The use and non-use of assistive technologies from the world of information and communication technology by visually impaired young people:

 A walk on the tightrope of peer inclusion. *Disability & Society*, 25(3), 303ó315.
- Soodak, L., & Podell, D. (1993). Teacher sense of efficacy and student problems as factors in special education referral. *Journal of Special Education*, *27*(1), 66ó83.
- Spencer, K., Freund, M., & Browne, B. (2006). Using case writing to meet diverse agendas in special education. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 29(3), 2026207.
- Sylvester, L., Woods, L. L., & Martin, J. E. (2007). Student directed transition planning.

 Norman, OK: University of Oklahoma, Zarrow Center. Retrieved May 30, 2011, from http://www.ou.edu/zarrow
- Szymanski, E. M. (1994). Transition: Life-span and life-space considerations for empowerment. *Exceptional Children, 60*(1), 4026410.
- Test, D. W., Aspel, N. P., & Eversion, J. M. (2005). *Transition methods for youth with disabilities* (1st ed.). Columbus, OH: Pearson.

- Test, D. W, Fowler, C. H., Brewer, D. M., & Wood, W. M. (2005). A content and methodological review of self-advocacy intervention studies. *Exceptional Children*, 72(1), 1016125.
- Thoma, C. A., Held, M. F., & Saddler, S. (2002). Transition assessment practices in Nevada and Arizona: Are they tied to best practices? *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 17, 2426250.
- Trussell, R.P, Hammond, H., & Ingalls, L. (2008). Ethical practices and parental participation in rural special education. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, 27(1/2), 19623.
- Tschannen-Moran, M., Hoy, A., & Hoy, W. (1998). Teacher sense of efficacy: Its meaning and measure. *Review of Educational Research*, 68(2), 2026248.
- Turnbull, A. P., & Turnbull, H. R. (1997). Families, professionals, and exceptionality: A special partnership (3rd ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- U.S. Department of Education. (1996). Eighteenth annual report to Congress on the implementation of the Individuals with Disabilities: A position paper of the Division on Career Development and Transition. Career Development for Exceptional Individuals, 31, 56664.
- U.S. Department of Education. (2005). New no child left behind flexibility: Highly qualified teachers [Fact sheet]. Retrieved May 25, 2011, from http://www.ed.gov/nclb/methods/teachers/hqtflexibility.html
- U.S. Department of Education. (2010). New no child left behind flexibility: Highly qualified teachers [Fact sheet]. Retrieved May 25, 2012, from http://www.ed.gov/nclb/methods/teachers/hqtflexibility.html

- Van Reusen, A. K., Bos, C. S., Schumaker, J. B., & Deshler, D. D. (1994). *The self-advocacy strategy for education and transition planning*. Lawrence, KS: Edge Enterprises.
- Velenchick, A.D. (1995). The case method as a strategy for teaching policy analysis to undergraduates. *Journal of Economic Education*, 26, 29638.
- Wandry, D. L., Webb, K. W., Williams, J. M., Bassett, D. S., Asselin, S. B., & Hutchinson, S. R. (2008). Teacher candidatesø perceptions of barriers to effective transition programming.

 *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals, 31, 14625.
- Ward, L., Mallett, R., Heslop, P. & Simons, K. (2003). Transition planning: how well does it work for young people with learning disabilities and their families? *British Journal of Special Education*, 30(3), 1326137.
- Wasburn-Moses, L. (2005). Roles and responsibilities of secondary special education teachers in an age of reform. *Remedial and Special Education*, 26(3), 1516158.
- Wasburn-Moses, L., & Rosenberg, M.S. (2008). Alternative route special education teacher preparation guidelines. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 31(4), 257-267.
- Wassermann, S. (1994a). Using cases to study teaching. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 75(8), 6026611.
- Wassermann, S. (1994b). *Introduction to case method teaching: A guide to the galaxy*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Wehman, P., Kregel, J., Barcus, J., & Schalock, R. (1986). Vocational transition for students with developmental disabilities. In W. E. Kiernan & L. Stark (Eds.), *Pathways to employment for adults with developmental disabilities* (pp.1136127). Baltimore: Paul H. Brookes.
- Wehmeyer, M. L., & Field, S. L. (2006). *Self-determination: Instructional and assessment strategies*. Thousand Oaks, California: Corwin Press.

- Wehmeyer, M. L., & Palmer, S. (2003). Adult outcomes for students with cognitive disabilities three years after high school: The impact of self-determination. Education and Training in Developmental Disabilities, 38(2), 1316144.
- Wehmeyer, M. L., Palmer, S. B., Argan, M., Mithaug, D. E., & Martin, J. E. (2000). Promoting causal agency: The self-determined learning model of instruction. *Exceptional Children*, 66, 4396453.
- Wehmeyer, M. L., Morningstar, M., & Husted, D. (1999). Family involvement in transition planning and implementation. Austin, TX: PRO-ED.
- Wehmeyer, M. L., & Schwartz, M. (1997). Self-determination and positive adult outcomes: A follow-up study of youth with mental retardation or learning disabilities. *Exceptional Children*, 63(2), 2456255.
- Weidenthal, C., & Kochhar-Bryant, C. (2007). An investigation of transition practices for middle school youth. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 30(3), 1476157.
- Weiss, M. P., & Lloyd, J. W. (2002). Congruence between roles and action of secondary special educators in co-taught and special education roles. *Journal of Special Education*, 36(2), 58668.
- Will, M. (1983). OSERS programming for the transition of youth with disabilities: Bridges from school to working life. Washington, DC: Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. 256132)
- Will, M. (1984). Bridges from school to working life: Programs for the handicapped.Washington, DC: Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services, Office of Information and Resources for the Handicapped.

- Wisniewski, L., & Gargiulo, R. M. (1997). Occupational stress and burnout among special educators: A review of literature. *Journal of Special Education*, *31*, 3256346.
- Wolfe, P. S., Boone, R. S., & Blanchett, W. J. (1998). Regular and special educatorsøperception of transition competencies. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, 21, 876100.
- Woolfolk, A. E., & Hoy, W. K., (1990). Prospective teachersøsense of efficacy and beliefs about control, *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82, 81691.
- Woolfolk, A. E., Rosoff, B., & Hoy, W. K. (1990). Teachersøsense of efficacy and their beliefs about managing students. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 6, 1376148.

Appendix 1

Evidence-Based Practices Case Study and Teacher Efficacy Instruments

Start Time:		End Time:			
	Case Study Content	Review Survey			
	3 Clearly Reflected	2 Partially Reflected	1 Not Reflected		
Self-Determination					
Parental Involvement					
Transition Assessments					
Student Participation					
Interagency Collaboration					
Comments					

Start Time:	End Time:

Case Study Review Survey

	5 Strongly Agree	4 Agree	3 Neutral	2 Somewhat Disagree	1 Disagree
The Evidence-Based Practice Case Study Response Questionnaire statement for directions was clear.					
The scenario described in the Evidence-Based Practice Case Study was clear.					
The length of the Evidence-Based Practice Case Study was reasonable.					
The Evidence-Based Practice Case Study was easy to read.					
The Evidence-Based Practice Case Study was easy to comprehend.					
All 5 evidence-based practices were clearly identified in the <i>Evidence-Based Practice Case Study</i> .					

Comments		
	 	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Demographic Questionnaire

Check the response that most closely reflects your current status.

1.	. Student Classification					
	JuniorSenio	or1 st year Graduate	2 nd year Graduate	3 rd year Graduate		
2.	Graduate Students: N	My undergraduate degree	was in	(write-in).		
3.	My initial certification Education, Rehabilitat		(College of Education	, Department of Special		
	UndergraduateCollaborative (Kó12) Traditional				
	GraduateCollaborative (Collaborative Collaborative Collaborative	(6612) Traditional (K612) Alternative	on campus	distance education distance education distance education distance education		
4.	Age	5. Gender_	MaleFemale			
6.		nNative America	nCaucasian (write-in	•		
7.	This semester I am in 2 nd practicum 3 rd practicum 4 th practicum Internship	my	_•			
Adapte	d from:					
Soodak,		ehman, L. R. (1998). Teach clusion. <i>Journal of Special I</i>	er, student, and school attributed attribute	utes as predictors of		
Shippen			., & Simon, M. (2005). Pre-seacher Education and Species			

Evidence-Based Practices Case Study

Ashley Cotton is a 16 year-old female in the tenth grade at Scott Taylor High School. Ashley enjoys taking pictures of nature and animals. Her favorite animal is a dog, but she does not have any pets. Ashleyøs dad bought her first high definition camera for Christmas. She has been taking pictures every day since the day after Christmas. Ashley has been identified as having a learning disability since the 3rd grade. Ashleyøs learning disability affects the speed at which she processes information. She responds slower than other students her age, and it takes her longer to process what the teacher and other students are saying. Ashley reads and performs math problems very slowly. Also, she has problems with completing upcoming assignments in at timely manner. Ashleyøs favorite subject is World Geography. She enjoys looking at pictures of different locations in the world. She receives all instruction inside of a general education classroom of 23 students and small group instruction inside the resource room for her academic deficits. Ashley is somewhat of a shy girl who gets intimidated by her peers because of her disability and mostly keeps to herself. Although Ashley is very shy at school, she loves to Skype her cousin, Tonya, who lives in Turkey.

Ashley lives at home with both parents and younger brother. Her father works the night shift at the local car plant and her mother works full time at an insurance company. Ashleyøs mom is involved in Ashleyøs education as much as her job allows her to be. She drives Ashley and her brother to school in the morning but is unable to pick them up due to late hours at the office. During Ashleyøs middle school years, her mother participated in the Parent Teacher Association (PTA). Most of the activities and meetings that were planned were held in the evenings so she was able to attend. Mrs. Cotton attempts to attend Ashleyøs annual IEP meetings but many times in the past she was unable to participate because she could not get off work.

Throughout Ashleyøs elementary and middle school years, her mother attended 5 IEP meetings. Ashley has only attended her 9th grade exit IEP meeting (planning for 10th grade). Due to Mr. and Mrs. Cotton work schedules, they allow for the IEP meetings to go on without their participation. The limited parent participation in the IEP meetings has also been an issue since she has been in high school. However, Mrs. Cotton did attend Ashleyøs 9th grade exit IEP (planning for 10th grade) meeting along with Ashley.

Ashley, Mrs. Cotton, the general education teacher, special education teacher, and school administrator attended Ashleyøs 9th grade exit IEP meeting (planning for 10th grade). Ashley and her mother were unfamiliar with the use of special education terminology, and they were unaware of their rights and roles in these meetings. During the IEP meeting, Mrs. Cotton became very defensive and answered questions without allowing Ashley to respond. Ashley was never given the chance to share her interests, future goals, and successful accomplishments. The IEP meeting became very negative and ultimately the teachers finalized goals and future plans for Ashley without discussing her options with her first. Ashley was very upset and began to cry.

Ms. Price, the special education teacher, was so disappointed in the 9th grade exit IEP meeting (planning for 10th grade) she decided to make a change for Ashleyøs sophomore year in high school. Ashleyøs 9th grade school schedule indicated that she took all general education classes (see Appendix A). Ms. Price regularly makes accommodations for Ashley so that she is successful in the general education classroom. She might reduce the length of the assignments, so that Ashley can complete them in the time allowed. Although processing can cause many academic issues for Ashley, Ms. Price works hard to provide the academic support that she needs to be successful. Additionally, Ms. Price regularly meets with the general education teacher, Ms.

Gilley, about Ashley& progress in the classroom. Ms. Gilley has reported that Ashley does not demonstrate goal-directed behaviors. The class was asked to discuss and present their future plans. Ashley did not respond and privately told Ms. Gilley that she had no future plans. Ms. Gilley has also noticed that Ashley has problems with making decisions. She is always confused about what to eat for lunch and is easily frustrated when making choices with several options. Ashley has expressed that her mother usually picks her clothes out and prepares her dinner with very few suggestions. Ms. Price and Ms. Gilley are very concerned with Ashley& passive role in her own life.

In order to set meaningful postsecondary goals, Ms. Price and Ms. Gilley begin to prepare for this year 10th grade exit IEP meeting (planning for 11th grade). Ashley 10th grade school schedule indicates that she is only enrolled in general education courses led by the general education teachers with support from Ms. Price (see Appendix B). The goal is to help Ashley create a plan to transition into the community. Mrs. Cotton has expressed that she and her husband are very worried about Ashley life after exiting high school, but they are unable to help her. Mrs. Cotton has recently observed that Ashley is very uncertain about her future plans. Ashley rarely expresses her interests, strengths, and weaknesses. The only activity that Ashley enjoys doing is taking pictures. With very little information being provided by Ashley and her parents, Ms. Price decided to administer age appropriate assessments. She selected to administer an intelligence and achievement test. The results indicated Ashley recent cognitive performance and academic skills.

Once the results were presented, Ms. Price scheduled the yearly IEP meeting to discuss transition plans with Ashleyøs general education teacher, the principal, Ashleyøs parents, and a rehabilitation counselor. While at the meeting, it was difficult for the team to put together a plan

for many reasons. The lack of collaboration and communication among the school, parent, and vocational rehabilitation is an issue. The school members and the rehabilitation counselor were unsure about their roles and responsibilities in the process. Ms. Price has previously contacted the rehabilitation counselor, Ms. Hare, for support, but she is never able to meet. Ms. Price invited, Ms. Hare, the rehabilitation counselor to the IEP meeting but she did not respond. However, she arrived 15 minutes late to the meeting.

Ashley, her family, and Ms. Price to attend a community career fair. The community fair gave educators, parents, and students that are transitioning from high school an opportunity to explore possible career paths. Ms. Price printed the email out and sent it home with Ashley, but there was no response from her parents. Ms. Price did not respond to the invitation and as a result she did not attend the community career fair. Mrs. Cotton is also confused because she was unclear about the support and resources that rehabilitation and other adult service agencies can provide. Ms. Price was also unfamiliar with other community resources that were available to help Ashley. During the meeting, Ms. Price and Ms. Gilley disagreed with Ashleys mother about her living arrangements after graduation. The teachers felt that Ashley should be able to transition into her own apartment, but her mother wanted her to remain at home. Ashleys 10th grade exit IEP (planning for 11th grade) meeting did not go as planned and teachers, administrators, and adult service provider are left confused about Ashleys future plans and goals.

Scott Taylor High School Ashley Cotton's Class Schedule-9th grade

	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday
7:30-8:00 Homeroom					
1 st Block 8:00-9:30	English/ Language Arts	Study Hall	English/ Language Arts	Study Hall	English/ Language Arts
10 min Break					
2 nd Block 9:40-11:00	Intro to Algebra	Computer Applications	Intro to Algebra	Computer Applications	Intro to Algebra
10 min Break					
3 rd Block 11:10-12:40	World Geography & Culture	Physical Science	World Geography & Culture	Physical Science	World Geography & Culture
30 min Lunch					
4 th Block 1:10-2:40	Health	P.E.	Health	P.E.	Health
Dismissal 2:45-3:10					

Scott Taylor High School Ashley Cotton's Class Schedule-10th grade

	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday
7:30-8:00 Homeroom					
1 st Block 8:00-9:30	English/ Language Arts II	Elective	English/ Language Arts II	Elective	English/ Language Arts II
10 min Break					
2 nd Block 9:40-11:00	Algebra I	Study Hall	Algebra I	Study Hall	Algebra I
10 min Break					
3 rd Block 11:10-12:40	Biology	World History	Biology	World History	Biology
30 min Lunch					
4 th Block 1:10-2:40	Visual Art	P.E.	Visual Art	P.E.	Visual Art
Dismissal 2:45-3:10					

Evidence-Based Practice Case Study Response Questionnaire

Student Number

Read the case study. Provide a written analysis of the case that includes the strengths and weakness in regards to parental involvement, student participation, self-determination, transition assessments, and interagency collaboration. Finally, provide a plan of action to resolve short and long-term issues based on your identified strengths and weaknesses.

Evidence- Based Practice Case Study Issues

Self- Determination	Parental Involvement	Student Participation	Transition Assessments	Interagency Collaboration	
Ashley does not share interests, future goals, and other accomplishments.	Both parents are not consistently involved in the transition planning process	Ashley does not play an active role in her IEP meetings.	Teachers and parents are unaware of Ashleyøs interests, strengths, and weaknesses.	There is a lack of collaboration between the school and Vocational Rehabilitation.	
Ashley does not participate in goal-directed behaviors.	Parents are unaware of special education terminology.	Ashley is not aware of rights and responsibilities in the transition planning process.	The special education teacher only administered an IQ and achievement test.	There is a lack of communication among the school and rehabilitation counselor.	
Ashley has no future plans.	Parents are unaware of their rights, roles, and responsibilities in the transition planning process.	Ashley is unaware of special education terminology.	The Special education teacher did not assess Ashleyøs transition needs.	The special education teacher is not familiar and/or actively involved with community resources and agencies that can support Ashley.	
Ashley does not make decisions easily. She is used to her mother making decisions for her.	Parents are unaware of community resources that can help Ashley transition into the community.	Ashley does not participate in the planning of her future.	The rehabilitation counselor has not addressed/assessed Ashley& career interests.	The IEP team members are unaware of their roles and responsibilities in the transition planning process in regards to planning with outside agencies.	

Evaluation Rubric for Evidence-Based Practice Written Analysis of Case Study

Student Number	•	Score	/16

Evaluation Component	4- Exceeds Expectation	3-Meets Expectation	2-Partially Meets Expectation	1-Does Not Meet Expectation
Evidence-Based Practice Identification Self-Determination Student Participation Family Involvement Interagency Collaboration Transition Assessments	Clearly and fully describes 4 to 5 evidence-based practices in multiple useful ways or the most useful way that is reflective of the case study	Adequately describes 3 to 4 evidence-based practices in multiple useful ways that is reflective of the case study	Describes 1 to 2 evidence-based practices in multiple ways	Fails to describe any evidence-based practices in multiple useful ways or the most useful way that is reflective of the case study
Analysis of Issues	Presents all 4 issues identified for each evidence-based practice; reveals the studentøs strengths and weaknesses regarding the transition planning process	Presents 2 to 3 issues identified for each evidence-based practice; reveals the studentøs strengths and weaknesses regarding the transition planning process	Presents 1 to 2 issues identified for each evidence-based practice; reveals the studentos strengths and weaknesses regarding the transition planning process	Presents no or little issues identified for each evidence-based practice; reveals the studentøs strengths and weaknesses regarding the transition planning process
Plan of Action	Presents realistic, and appropriate recommendations for all 5 evidence-based practices that clearly supports the information presented and concepts from the case study	Presents realistic, and appropriate recommendations for 3 to 4 evidence-based practices that clearly supports the information presented and concepts from the case study	Presents realistic, and appropriate recommendations for all 1 to 2 evidence-based practices that clearly supports the information presented and concepts from the case study	Presents no or little recommendations with little, if any, support from the information presented and concepts from the reading
Evaluation of Plan Action	Provides evidence for 4 to 5 short- and 4 to 5 long-term solutions based on each plan of action	Provides evidence for 2 to 3 short- and 2 to 3 long-term solutions based on each plan of action	Provides evidence for 1 to 2 short- and 1 to 2 long-term solutions based on each plan of action	Provides no or little evidence for short ó and long term solutions based on each plan of action

The Teacher Efficacy for Secondary Students with Disabilities

Using the 5-point scale below, indicate your confidence level for each of the following questions.

Į	'ery	5 Con	ıfide	ent	4 Confident	3 Moderate Confidence	2 Little Confidence	1 No Confidence
5 5 5 5 5	4 4 4 4	3 3 3 3 3	2 2 2 2 2 2	1 1 1 1 1	 understan understan (IEP). understan understan requirement understan 	that I d the laws and regulations red the process of qualifying side the information contained d my role in serving student d the information that is needents of IEP. d when I exerted more effortecome more successful.	itudents for special ed in an Individualized I s with an active IEP. ded to complete the tr	ucation services. Education Program cansition
5 5 5 5 5	4 4 4 4	3 3 3 3		1 1 1 1	 understan understan understan 	that I e what the different disability d the manifestations of the c d the difficulties students wi d the exceptional needs of a d how a student student student	lisabilities. ith disabilities encoun students with disabili	ties.
5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	4 4 4 4 4 4 4	3 3 3 3 3 3 3	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	13. know how 14. know how 15. can modi- secondary 16. know how 17. know how 18. know how 19. know how	that I y to expose students with dis y to teach basics skills such a y to implement effective lear y and accommodate instruct y age students with disabilitie y to aid students with vocatio y to aid students in their role y to manage studentsøbehav y to teach functional skills. y to implement the practices	as reading, writing, ar rning strategies. tional practices to med es. onal training and care in the transition plan- ior.	et the needs of er development.
5 5 5 5 5	4 4 4 4	3 3 3 3	2 2 2 2 2	1 1 1 1	22. know how 23. know how 24. know how	that I y to work with general educate to to work with school and of to work with community a to work with parents. y to work with other profess:	her special education gencies	administrators.

Adapted from

Walls, S. D. (2007). Early childhood pre-service training and perceived teacher efficacy beliefs concerning the inclusion of young children with disabilities. Unpublished doctoral dissertation. Auburn University, Auburn, AL. Retrieved October 20, 2011, from Auburn University Libraries.

Appendix 2

Auburn University Institutional Review Board (IRB) Approval

AUBURN UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD for RESEARCH INVOLVING HUMAN SUBJECTS

RESEARCH PROTOCOL REVIEW FORM

For Information or help contact THE OFFICE OF RESEARCH COMPLIANCE, 115 Romsoy Holl, Aubum University

Phone: 334-844-5966 e-mail: hsubjec@aubum.edu Web Address: http://www.auburn.edu/research/ypr/ohs/

	www.auburn.edu/research/ypr/ohs/
	AND DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY OF THE PROPERT
PXPEDITED	✓ EXEMPT
cy and the use of Case Stud	
C 334-844-23 DEPT PHOT	- a - 3 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1
334-844-7677 FAX	ALTERNATE E-MAIL
External Agency:	Pending Received
DR IRBs ASSOCIATED WITH YE	PERSONAL PROPERTY.
66. Ke	search Methodology
Data Source(s): Will recorded data directly Ye Data collection will involve t Educational Tests (cognit	the use of:
6D. R	isks to Participants
Please identify all risks that Breach of Confidentiality Deception Psychological None	Caercha Physical Speed 0 7 2012 Caercha Physical Speed 0 7 2012 Caercha Compliance
*Note that If the investigator	is using or accessing confidential or identifiable data,
breach o	of confidentiality is always a risk.
PROTOCOL #	12:05 7 EX 1202
	DEPT PHON 334-844-7677 FAX External Agency: DR IRBs ASSOCIATED WITH THE 6B. Re Please check all descriptor Data Source(s): Ne: Will recorded data directly Ye Data collection will involve to Educational Tests (cognit Interview / Observation Physical / Physiological Surveys / Guestianneire Internet / Electronic Audio / Video / Photos Private records or files 6D. R Please identify all risks the Breach of Confidentiality Deception Psychological None *Note that if the investigator breach of the control of t

7. PROJECT ASSURANCES

PROJECT TITLE: Secondary Special Education Teachers' Efficacy and the use of Case Study Methodology

A. PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR'S ASSSURANCES

- 1. I certify that all information provided in this application is complete and correct.
- 2. I understand that, as Principal Investigator, I have ultimate responsibility for the conduct of this study, the ethical performance this project, the protection of the rights and welfare of human subjects, and strict adherence to any stipulations imposed by the Auburn
- I certify that all individuals involved with the conduct of this project are qualified to carry out their specified roles and responsibilities and are in compliance with Aubum University policies regarding the collection and analysis of the research data.
- I agree to comply with all Auburn policies and procedures, as well as with all applicable federal, state, and local laws regarding the protection of human subjects, including, but not limited to the following:
 - a. Conducting the project by qualified personnel according to the approved protocol
 - Implementing no changes in the approved protocol or consent form without prior approval from the Office of Human Subjects Research
 - Obtaining the legally effective informed consent from each participant or their legally responsible representative prior to

	 d. Promptly reporting significant adverse ev 	y the currently approved, stamped consent for vents and/or effects to the Office of Human Su	m
5.	working days of the occurrence. If I will be unavailable to direct this research person basence. This person has been named as co-investing.	anally, I will arrange for a co-investigator to a	sume direct responsibility in my
	arrangements.	4	, of tener, in advance of sour
6.	 I agree to conduct this study only during the period 	d approved by the Auburn University IRB.	
/.	 I will prepare and submit a renewal request and s the approval period has expired if it is necessary Aubum University IRB. 	upply all supporting documents to the Office a to continue the research project beyond the tin	f Human Subjects Research before ne period approved by the
8.	 I will prepare and submit a final report upon comp 	pletion of this research project.	
My	bove.	d agree to conduct this research project in acc	ordance with the assurances listed
	Stephanie L. Taylor	Stochamie & Miller	2/1/12
	Printed name of Principal Investigator	Principal Investigator's Signature (SIGN IN BLUE INK ONLY)	Date
В.	. FACULTY ADVISOR/SPONSOR'S AS	SURANCES	
	76		
1.	 By my signature as faculty advisor/sponsor on this knowledgeable about the regulations and policies 	governing research with human subjects and hi	or guest investigator is as sufficient training and
2.	 experience to conduct this particular study in according to the project will be performed by qual experimental methodology. 		otocol using conventional or
3.			
4.	 Should problems arise during the course of the stud them. 	dy, I agree to be available, personally, to supp	ervise the investigator in solving
5.	I assure that the investigator will promptly report s	ignificant adverse events and/or effects to the	OHSR in writing within 5 working
4	days of the occurrence.	and for the contract of the state of the sta	LOCAL CONTROL OF CONTR
	 If I will be unavailable, I will arrange for an altern the OHSR by letter of such arrangements. If the ir modifications or the final report, I will assume that 	nvestigator is unable to fulfill requirements for responsibility.	ring my absence, and I will advise submission of renewals,
7.	. I have read the protocol submitted for this project	for content, clarity, and methodology	
	Dr. Caroline Dunn	Constin Dune	217112
	Printed name of Faculty Advisor / Sponsor	Signature (SIGN IN BLUE INK ONLY)	Date
C.	. DEPARTMENT HEAD'S ASSSURANCE	CE	
-	7.50		
Aul	y my signature as department head, I certify that I wil uburn University policies and procedures, as well as a catment of human participants by researchers in my d	Il applicable federal, state, and local laws reg	ication and enforcement of all parding the protection and ethical
	Dr. Dave Martin	E. O. March	2/7/2012
	Printed name of Department Head	Signature (SIGN IN BLUE INK ONLY)	Dale
		1	1
			2

8. PROJECT OVERVIEW: Prepare an abstract that includes:

(400 word maximum, in language understandable to sameone who is not familiar with your area of study):

- A summary of relevant research findings leading to this research proposal: (Cite sources; include a "Reference List" as Appendix A.)
- II.) A brief description of the methodology,
- III.) Expected and/or possible outcomes, and,
- IV.) A statement regarding the potential significance of this research project.

I. Many secondary special education teachers lack the knowledge and skills needed to design and implement evidence-based secondary programs for students with disabilities (deFur & Tayman, 1995). These teachers report feeling unprepared to work with students with disabilities at the secondary level due to lack of knowledge about (a) student characteristics and needs and (b) effective practices (Anderson, Kleinhammer-Tramili, Morningstar, et al., 2003; Kochhar-Bryant, 2003). This lack of confidence impacts self-efficacy (Deemer & Minke, 1999). Teacher self-efficacy is important to consider in the preparation of secondary special education teachers because students of teachers with high self-efficacy demonstrate higher achievement, and high teacher self-efficacy is related to students performing better in school (Allinder, 1994).

II. Pre-service special educators' self-efficacy in secondary special education and knowledge and skills related to evidence-based practices in the area of secondary special education will be investigated using the (a) Teacher Efficacy for Secondary Students with Disabilities (TESSD) and (b) Evidence-Based Practice Case Study (EBPCS). For the case study, participants will read a case and then respond to three questions. Response will be scored using a rubric developed by the researcher. Pre-service teachers will be recruited from undergraduate and graduate classes at Auburn University. Participation will be voluntary. There will be no compensation for participating in the study. The relationship between the TESSD scores and EBPC scores will be examined using Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients.

III. Important information related to pre-service special education teachers' self-efficacy and knowledge of evidence-based secondary special education and transition practices will be obtained. The researcher believes there will be a positive relationship between scores on the TESSD and EBPCS, indicating pre-service teachers who are knowledgeable about evidence-based secondary special education practices will report higher levels of self-efficacy.

IV. National studies reveal the postschool outcomes of students with disabilities in employment, post, postsecondary education training, and independent livings is less than desirable (Newman, 2005). One of the factors that contributes to these poor outcomes is the lack of focus in teacher preparation programs in the area of secondary special education (Anderson, Kleinhammer-Tramill, Morningstar, et al., 2003). The results of this study can provide valuable information about the self-efficacy and knowledge of secondary programming practices of pre-service special education teachers. This information can be used in refining special education teacher preparation programs.

9. PURPOSE.

Clearly state all of the objectives, goals, or aims of this project.

The purpose of this study is to explore pre-service special educators' knowledge, skills, and self-efficacy in providing evidence-based practices to secondary-age students with disabilities. The goal of this study is to answer the following questions:

(1) to what extent is there a relationship between teacher efficacy scores (TESSD) and scores on the rubrics for evidence-based practices for students in special education teacher preparation programs

(2) to what extent is there a difference between students at the undergraduate level and those at the graduate level based on teacher efficacy scores (TESSD) and scores on the rubrics for evidence-based practices for students in special education teacher preparation programs, and (3) to what extent is there an interaction effect between teacher efficacy scores (TESSD) and scores on the rubric for evidence-based practices for students in special education teacher preparation programs.

The results of this study can provide pertinent information to preparation programs about the knowledge, skills, and self-efficacy of pre-service special education teachers.

b. How will the results of this project be used? (e.g., Presentation? Publication? Thesis? Dissertation?)

The results of this study will be used to complete a dissertation. Also, the findings will be used to write a manuscript for publication in a scholarly journal within the field of special education as well as to prepare presentations for professional conferences.

Principle Inv	oroperane rayion	**	Doctoral Candidate	sit0001@tigermail.aubur E-mail address	m.ed
Dept / Affilia			_1ibe:	_ E-mail address	175-3450
Ms. Taylor wi	onsibilities: Il recruit undergraduate and grad r and analyze the data generated	uate level sp from the inst	ecial education pre-service e ruments.	educators and collect completed TESSD ar	nd EB
ndividual:	Caroline Dunn	Title:	Professor E-III	nail address	du
			- indirect		-07
SALES OF THE SALES	onsibilities: assist with entering and analyzin	g the data ge	nerated from the TESSD and	d EBPCS.	
	5 841		+ 1	5 (
	Mary.	Title:	E-n	nail address	
Dept / Affilial	tion:	ew.v			0
Roles / Resp	onsibilities;				
			¥		90
ndividual:		Title	E	nail address	
	tion:			Idali audiress	
Roles / Resp	onsibilities:			1 - 100001	2,050
ndividual:		Title:	E-m	nall address	
Jept i Armia	tion:				-
Roles / Resp	onsibilities:				
				**	
	25.060				
ndividual:		Title:	E-m	nail address	_
Dept / Affiliat	BON:	- 1			- 20
Roles / Resp	onsibilities:		28		
OCATION O	F RESEARCH. List all locations	where data	collection will take place.	(School systems, organizations, businesse	s, bui
ing room nun	nbers, servers for web surveys, etc ters at http://www.aubum.edu/researci	himmhheleann	cilic as possible. Attach p	ermission letters in Appendix E.	

12	PART	CIDA	MTC

a. Describe the participant population you have chosen for this project.

Check here if there is existing data; describe the population from whom data was collected & include the # of data files.

The participant population for this study will include adults (ages 19-70) who intend to be teachers and are currently enrolled in special education teacher preparation programs (undergraduate and graduate) at Aubum University. This population is extremely diverse along gender, race, and ethnicity lines. Some of the proposed subjects are members of racial and ethnic minority groups in the United States and some of the participants may be pregnant. The estimated number of subjects to be recruited will be 150.

b. Describe why is this participant population is appropriate for inclusion in this research project. (include criteria for selection.)

The roles and responsibilities of secondary special educators have expanded, requiring them to take on more job duties. However, preservice teachers are not demonstrating the knowledge and skills that are needed to complete these job duties. Therefore, it is important to gather information on the knowledge, skills, self-efficacy of pre-service special educators. Pre-service special education teacher enrolled in undergraduate and graduate level classes in the College of Education Department of Special Education, Rehabilitation, and Counseling in Spring 2012, Summer, 2012, and Fall 2012 semesters will be eligible participation. Potential participants will be informed that their participation is voluntary, that they can discontinue participation at any time, and their work will be anonymous.

c. Describe, step-by-step, all procedures you will use to recruit participants. Include in <u>Appendix B</u> a copy of ell e-mails, fiyers, advertisements, recruiting scripts, invitations, etc., that will be used to invite people to participate. [See sample documents at http://www.auburn.edu/research/vpr/ohs/sample.htm.)

The principle investigator will obtain permission to visit the College of Education, Department of Special Education, Rehabilitation, and Counseling practica and internship classes from the course Instructor. The principle Investigator will briefly explain the components of the instruments and anonymity of the responses. She will emphasize that participation is voluntary and can be discontinued at anytime without penalty. She will provide the students in the practica and internship classes with a flyer. It is included in Appendix B. The principle investigator will recruit participants after regularly scheduled practica or internship classes. One week, she will explain the study and recruit participants. The recruitment flyer will provide eligibility and contact information. The following week the principle investigator will provide potential participants with an information letter that will clearly explain the procedures involved in the study. There will be a time for questions prior to administering the instruments. Once the students agree to volunteer, the principle investigator will administer the instruments (TESSD and EBPCS) and wait for the envelopes to be returned. Participation is voluntary. There is no penalty for lack of participation.

Wha	at is the minimum number of participants y	you need to validate the study?	100	
la th	here a limit on the number of participants y	you will recruit?	□ No	Yes - the number is 150
is th	here a limit on the number of participants y	you will include in the study?	□ No	Yes - the number is 150
			17%	
	scribe the type, amount and method of como compensation will be given, check here		or participa	ants.
(If n) Incentives	38 1 1 50	ants. ude the chances of winning.)
(If n	o compensation will be given, check here 🗸) Incentives	entive (Incl	

13. PROJECT DESIGN & METHODS.

a. Describe, step-by-step, all procedures and methods that will be used to consent participants.

(L Check here if this is "not applicable"; you are using existing data.)

Prior to the study, the principle investigator will obtain permission from the instructors of COE/SERC practica and internship classes to visit classes and recruit students for participation in the study. The principle investigator will come to a class meeting after the class is over and explain the purpose of the study. The following week, the principle investigator will provide details associated with participation, anonymity of participation, and the voluntary nature of participation to students who are volunteering. This information will described through an informational letter. The willing participants will keep a signed copy of the informational letter for their records. The participants will complete the TESSD and EBPCS in the classroom after class. There will be no record of the participants' identities on the instruments. Each packet will have a number code written at the top of each page. Each participant will be asked to take note of the code. If a participant wishes to revoke his/her participation after completing the TESSD and EBPCS, the code can be provided so that the researcher can locate the instruments and destroy them by shredding.

b. Describe the procedures you will use in order to address your purpose. Provide a <u>step-by-step description</u> of how you will carry out this research project. Include specific information about the participants' time and effort commitment. (NOTE: Use language that would be understandable to someone who is not familiar with your area of study. Without a complete description of all procedures, the Aubum University IRB will not be able to review this protocol. If additional space is needed for this section, save the information as a .PDF file and insert after page 6 of this form.)
After distributing the TESSD and EBPCS the principle investigator will leave the classroom. It is estimated that participants will complete the

After distributing the TESSD and EBPCS the principle investigator will leave the classroom. It is estimated that participants will complete the TESSD and EBPCS Instruments within 50 minutes; there will be no imposed time limit on the participants. The participants will first complete a demographic questionnaire that involves questions pertaining to their age, gender, cultural background, and student classification. The participants will then complete the TESSD and EBPCS. Upon completion of the TESSD and EBPCS, the participants will return their instruments in a sealed envelope. The sealed envelopes will be placed in a bill the last participant has completed the instruments. The principle investigator will collect the bin. The principle investigator will keep the instruments in a locked file cabinet in her office on campus. There will be no way for the researcher to match the participants' completed instruments to their identities. For any reason a participant decides not to participate in the study, the participant can contact the principle investigator by providing the assigned number on the instrument. The principle investigator will then locate the instruments with matching number and shred the completed instruments.

Once the instruments have been collected, the Evidence-Based Practice Case Study will be evaluated by using a rubric adapted from the Department's practicum assignment rubric. The scores from the rubrics and the TESSD scale will be analyzed by Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients. The principle investigator will examine the direction of association between the two scores. In addition, a two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) procedure will be conducted to examine main effects and interactions effects for teacher efficacy (TESSD scores) and evidence-based practice case study (rubric scores) for pre-service teachers at the undergraduate and graduate levels. This information will be used to complete and fulfill the dissertation requirements of the College of Education, Special Education, Rehabilitation, and Counseling Department.

13c. List all data collection instruments used in this project, in the order they appear in Appendix C.

(e.g., surveys and questionnaires in the format that will be presented to participants, educational tests, data collection sheets, interview

questions, audio/video taping methods etc.)

The data collection instruments used in this project will be the Teacher Efficacy for Secondary Student with Disabilities (TESSD) scale and Avidence-Based Practice Case Study (EBPCS) for undergraduate and graduate students. A demographic questionnaire will be included to identify gender, age, and current classification status(undergraduate/graduate).

d. Data analysis: Explain how the data will be analyzed.

The data from the TESSD and EBPCS rubric scores will be analyzed by Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficients, A two-way Analysis of Variance will be conducted to examine main effects and interaction effects for teacher efficacy (TESSD scores) and evidence-based practice case study (rubric scores). Descriptive statistics will be used on data collected from the demographic questionnaire.

14. RISKS & DISCOMFORTS: List and describe all of the risks that participants might encounter in this research. If you are using deception in this study, please justify the use of deception and be sure to attach a copy of the debriefing form you plan to use in Appendix D. (Examples of possible risks are in section #6D on page 1.)

The project may involve risks associated with psychological stress due to anxiety. The anxiety may occur due to a previous student and supervisor relationship. The principal investigator may have been or may be the participants' practicum or intern supervisor. Coercion to participate is also a possible risk because of a previous relationship (student and university practicum or internship supervisor) between the principle investigator and participant.

15.	PRECAUTIONS. Identify and describe all precautions you have taken to eliminate or reduce risks as listed in #14. If the participants can be
	classified as a "vulnerable" population, please describe additional safeguards that you will use to assure the ethical treatment of these
	individuals. Provide a copy of any emergency plans/procedures and medical referral lists in Appendix D.

In order address these risks, the principle investigator will not remain in the classroom when students are completing the instruments. The risk of psychological stress will be addressed by emphasizing that participation is anonymous; the researcher will have no means of connecting participant identity with the participants' instruments. Additionally, the principle investigator will emphasize that participation is voluntary and can be withdrawn at anytime without penalty. Finally, although it is estimated that the packet will be completed within 50 minutes, there will be no time limit imposed upon the participants. The participants will return the TESSD and EBPCS in a sealed envelope in order to protect privacy.

If using the internet to collect data, what confidentiality or security precautions are in place to protect (or not collect) identifiable data? Include protections used during both the collection and transfer of data.

(These are likely listed on the server's website.)

N/A

18. BENEFITS

a. List all realistic direct benefits participants can expect by participating in this specific study. (Do not include "compansation" listed in #12d.) Check here if there are no direct benefits to participants. ✓ There will be no personal benefit for participating in the study.

List all realistic benefits for the general population that may be generated from this study.

This project has the potential to benefit the field of teacher preparation by providing information about pre-service special educators' self-efficacy, knowledge, and skills of evidence-based practices in the transition process for secondary-aged students with disabilities. This information can be useful to faculty in teacher education programs as they strive to develop programs that prepare special educators to be competent in teaching and supporting students with disabilities.

	PR	DIECTION OF DATA.							
	a.	Will data be collected as anonymous? ("Anonymous" means that you will not collect any identifi	Z iable data	Yes	□ No	If "YES"	, skip to pa	rt "g".	
	b.	Will data be collected as confidential? ("Confidential" means that you will collect and protect ide	ntifiable o	Yes deta.)	☑ No				
	C.	If data are collected as confidential, will the participal Yes (If so, describe how linked.)	ints' data	be cod	ed or linke	ed to iden	tifying info	rmation?	
			÷Χ						a.
1000	d.	Justify your need to code participants' data or link the	ne data w	ith iden	tifying info	ormation.			
			E 0						
	_	When will and lists by stone 19 (Building and and						201	
80	е,	Where will code lists be stored? (Building, room numb	er/)		120				
25,000	f.	Will data collected as "confidential" be recorded and (If you will maintain identifiable data, protections should be a confidential of the confide	l analyzed have beer	d as "an describ	onymous" sed in #15.)	"?	☐ Yes	□No	10
35000	g.	Describe how and where the data will be stored (e.g., data is stored will be secured in your absence. For a IRB-approved and participant-signed consent docum	electronic	data, d	escribe se	curity. If	applicable,	state specificall	tion where y where any
	th	n information letter will be used rather than a consent for perefore, it will not be stored. The completed packets wi nese packets will be stored in the principal investigator's	II not hav	e any id	entifying ir	ing partic	ipant name: n that could	s. The students wi be connected to	ill keep the letter the participants
								4	
								100	
	h. Th	Who will have access to participants' data? (The faculty advisor should have full access and be able the principle investigator and Dr. Dunn will have access to	to produ	ce the do	ata in the co	ase of a f	ederal or inst	titutional audit.)	
		9							
57,575	L	When is the latest date that confidential data will be	retained?	(Check	there if only	y anonym	ous data wil	l be retained.)	
1000	j. N/	How will the confidential data be destroyed? (NOTE:	Data reco	vided an	d analyzed	as "anon	ymous" may	be relained indefi	initely.)



The Auburn University freditational Review Board has approved this document for use from 2 2 2 12 13

Protocol # 12-059 EX 1202

DEPARTMENT OF SPECIAL EDUCATION, REHABILITATION, AND COUNSELING

Informational Letter

For a Research Study entitle "Secondary Special Education Teachers' Efficacy and the use of Case Study Methodology"

You are invited to participate in a research study to investigate pre-service teachers' efficacy, knowledge, and skills on implementing evidence-based practices to secondary-age students with disabilities. This study is being conducted by Stephanie L. Taylor, Doctoral Candidate in the Aubum University Department of Special Education, Rehabilitation, and Counseling. You were selected as a possible participant because you are a pre-service collaborative teacher and are age 19 or older.

What will be involved if you participate? If you decide to participate in this research study, you will be asked to complete an instrument about implementing evidence-based practices on students who are going through the transition planning process. You will also be asked to answer questions based off a case study that focuses on evidence-based practices that are very important in the transition planning process. Your total time commitment will be approximately 50 minutes.

Are there any risks or discomforts? If you participate in this study, you can expect to feel satisfaction in that your responses will enlighten many teacher preparatory programs. I cannot promise that you will receive any or all of the benefits described.

Are there any costs? If you decide to participate, there will be no costs to you.

If you change your mind about participating, you can withdraw at any time during the study. Your participation is completely voluntary. If you choose to withdraw, your data can be withdrawn as long as it is identifiable. Your decision about to whether or not to participate or stop participating will not jeopardize your future relations with the Auburn University, College of Education Department of Special Education, Rehabilitation, and Counseling.

Any data obtained in connection with this will remain anonymous. The researcher will have no way to connect your name to the information that you provide. The instruments that you complete will have a number written on the top of the front page. Please record this number. This is the only way to connect your name to the information provided. If, at any time, you would like to discontinue or withdraw your participation, you must provide the researcher with the number and your packet will be destroyed by shredding.

If you have questions about this study, please contact Stephanie L. Taylor, Doctoral Candidate under the direction of Dr. Caroline Dunn, Professor in the Department of Special Education, Rehabilitation, and Counseling at 334-844-2318.

If you have question about your rights as a research participant, you may contact the Aubum University Office of Human Subjects Research of the Institutional Review Board by phone 334-844-5966 or email at hsubjec@aubum.edu or IRBChaim@aubum.edu.

Having read the information provided, you must decide if you want to participate in this research project. If you decide to participate, the data you provide will serve as your agreement to do so. This letter is yours to keep.

Investigator's Signature	Date

2084 Haley Center, Auburn, AL 36849-5222; Telephone: 834-844-7676; Fax: 334-844-7677

w w w . a u b u r n . c d u / s c r c

As a decision of the second

Appendix 3

Participant Recruitment Flyer and Email Recruitment Letter

Secondary Special Educators' Teacher Efficacy Study

Be part of an important pre-service teacher preparation research study!!!

- Are you at least 19 years of age?
- Are you a pre-service Collaborative Teacher Education major?

If you answered **YES** to these questions, you may be eligible to participate in a Teacher Efficacy Study.

The purpose of this research study is to explore pre-service special educatorsø self-efficacy, knowledge, and skills in providing evidence-based practices to secondary-age students with disabilities.

Adults at least 19 years of age who are enrolled in Collaborative Teacher practica or internship classes are eligible.

This study is being conducted by a Doctoral Student in the Department of Special Education, Rehabilitation, and Counseling at Auburn University.

Please contact Ms. Stephanie Taylor at <u>slt0001@tigermail.auburn.edu</u> or (334) 844-2318 for more information.

Email Recruitment Letter

As you know, I am a doctoral candidate and I am in the process of collecting data. I am contacting you to recruit participants for my study entitled *Secondary Special Education Teachers' Efficacy and the Use of Case Study Methodology.* I have attached the informational letter and actual survey to this email. If you agree to participate, please complete each instrument in the order that it has been attached. Please use your own handwriting and scan your results into a word document or pdf file. Any data obtained will be anonymous. You will email your results to Dr. Vanessa Hinton at wmh0002@tigermail.auburn.edu. I will not have any way of identifying your answers to your email address. If you have any questions about your participation in study, please feel free to email or call me at 334-844-2318. Again, thank you in advance for participating in my study.